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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the year ended 31 December 2020

The directors present their Strategic Report on Virgin Media Finance PLC for the vear ended 31 December 2020,

For the purposes of this Strategic Report. Directors” Report and financial statements, the Virgin Media Finance
PLC group will be referred to as “the group™, Virgin Media Finance PLC the entity will be referred w as “the
company ™, the group headed by Virgin Media Inc. will be referred to as “the Virgin Media group™. and the group
headed by Liberty Global ple will be ceferred to as “the Liberty Global group™

As at 3t December 2020, the company is a1 wholly-owned subsidiary undertaking of Virgin Media nc. ("Virgin
Media™) which is itselt a whollv-owned subsidiary of Liberty Global pic {"Liberty Global™. As at 31 December
2020, the financial information of Virgin Media Finance PLC and its subsidiznies arc included in the combined
financial statements of the "Virgin Media group’. Virgin Madia group comprises of (i) Virgin Media and its
subsidianies and (i) NewCo Holdeo 5 Limited and its subsidianies (Virgin Media Ireland). The combined
financial statements of Virgin Media group are available to the public und may be obtained from Liberty
Global’s website at www libertvglobal.com,

The group opcerates under the Virgin Media brand in the United Kingdom {UK} and Ireland.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The group provides broadband internet, video. fixed-line telephony. mobile and broadeasting services in the UK
and Ireland and 1s one of the largest providers of residential communications services in these countries in terms
of the number of customers. The group believes its advanced. deep-fibre cable aceess network enables us to offer
taster und higher quality broadband internet services than other digital subscriber line (DSL) market participants.
As a result. it provides its customers with a leading next generation broadband internet service and one of the
most advanced mteractive television services available in the UK markets.

The group provides mobile services w ity customers usitg a third-party necwork through mobie virtual network
operators {MVN() arrangements.

In addition. through the Virgin Media Business brand, the group otters a broad porttolio of B2B veice. data,
internet, broadband and managed services solutions to small busiaesses. medium and large enterprises and public
sector organisations in the UK.

At 31 December 2020, the group provided services w 6 million residenual cable customers on its network. The
group provides mobile telephony services to 3 million contract mobile customers and 0.1 million prepay mobile
customers over third party networks. As of 31 December 2420, 80% of the group’s cable customers received
muliiple services and 58%» were “wiple-play” customers. receiving broadband internct, video and fixed-line
telephony services.

Liberty Global 1s an international converged broadband internet, video. fixed-line telephony and mobile services
company operating under the consumer brands Virgmn. Telenet. UPC. the combined Sunrise UPC. as well as
VodafoneZiggo. which is owned through a 30:3¢ joint venture. Liberty Global's substantial scale and
commitment o innovation enable it 1o invest in the infrastructure and digital platforms that empower 1ts
customers to make the most of the digital revolution. Liberty Global defivers market-leading products through
next-generation networks that connect customers subscribing 10 49 million fat 31 December 2020) broadband
mternel, video. fixed-line wiephony and mobile services across its brands. Liberty Global also has significant
imvestments in [TV, Ajl3Media, CANAL= Polska. LiensGate. the Formula E racing series and sceveral regional
spurts networks.

On 7 May 2020, Liberty Global entered into a contribution agreement with, amony others. Telefonica. SA
(Teletomicay. Pursuant o this agreement, Liberty Global and Teletonica agreed 1o form a 54:30 joint venture.
which will combine Virgin Media's operations in the UK with Teletonica’™s mobile business in the UK w create
a nationwide integrated communications provider. The formation of the joint venture was completed on 1 June
2021

ra
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES (continued)

On 30 November 2020, as part of a wider group restructure, the group disposed of its invesmment in UPC
Broadband [reland Limited. The group received consideration of £478.% miullien 1n respect of this and theretore
made a £66¥.5 million gain on disposal {see note 22)

The principal activity of the company is to facilitate the group's tinancing structure by implementing the group's
capital management policies. making and facilitating external borrowings and holding investments in subsidiary
companics. The company s investments include substantially alt of the Virgin Media group’s trading operating
companics.

The group’s reporting scgments are based on its methed of intemal reporting to Liberty Global and the
information used by its chief exceutive officer. who s the chiet operating degision maker. or CODM. o evaluate
segment performanee and male capital allocation decisions.

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the comparative protit and loss account has been re-presented so that the
disclosures in relation to discontinucd opcrations, being the disposal of the group’s investment m UPC
Broadband Ireland Limited. relate 1o all operations that have been discontinued by the balance sheet date (sce
note 22).

For the vear ended 31 December 2020, revenue decreased by 0.9% to £4.790L3 million trom £4.835.7 million
{restated) n 20019 primarily as result of a decrease in residential cable revenue and mobile revenue partially
offset by an increase in B2B revenue. See further discussion of revenue under “Performance against Kev
Performance Indicators below.

Cost of sales ncreased by 0.7%0 to £1.650.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. from £1.63%8.5 million
{restated) m 2019. Cost of sales increased during 2020. compared 10 2019 primarily due to higher MVNO costs
and an increase in interconnect and roaming costs. oftset by a decrease in programmung and copyright costs
primarily due to lower costs for certain premiam and basic content and loss of exclusive programming content
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. a decrease in mobile handset and other device costs prumarily due to
lower sales volumes due to closure of retail stores as a result ot the COVID-19 pandemic.

CGrross profit decreased by 1.8% to £3,139.7 million for the yvear ended 31 December 2020, from £3.197.2 million
irestated) for the vear ended 31 Decemnber 2019 primarily due 1o the reasens detailed above. Gross margin has
decreased by 009% o 635 3% for the vear ended 31 December 2020 from 66.1% (restated) for vear ended 31
December 2019,

Administrative expenses increased by 30.3% to £2.8138.2 nullion for the year ended 31 December 2020, trom
£2.159.7 million (restated) for the year ended 31 December 2019, This was partly driven by an increasc in
depreciation associated with property and equipment additions related to the mnstzllation of customer premises
equipment. the expansion and upgrade of cur networks and other caputal intiatives. In addition. reltated-party
fees and allocations. related to our estimated share of the applicable costs incurred by Libertv Global's
subsidiaries increased te £325.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, trom £225 3 million {restated) for
the year ended 31 December 2019, These charges generally refate to management. finance. legal. technology and

ather corporate and administrative services provided to or by our subsidiaries.

Finance income decreased to £437.6 million for the vear ended 31 December 2020, from £487.2 million
{restated) for the vear ended 31 December 209, The lower interest income artsing due to lower average inlerest
rates on related party loan recervables trom other Liberty Global greup undertakings is ottset by lower foreign
cxchange gains.

Finance costs increased to £96%.5 miilion for the vear ended 31 December 2020 from £884.2 million (restated)
tor the year ended 31 December 2019, The increase in costs was principally driven by higher losses on the fair
value of derivative financial instruments 1o 2020, In addrtion, there was an overall decrease in interest payable
due lower weighted average interest rates on a slightly higher average outstanding third-party debt balance.
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REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

Performance against Key Performance Indicators
Revenue
Residertial and B2B revenue includes both subscription and nen-subscription revenue.

Residential cable subseription revenue includes amounts received from subscribers for ongoing services and the
recogmition of deferred mstallation revenue wer the associated comract period. Residential cable non-
subscription revenue includes. among other items. channel carriage fees. late fecs and revenue from the sale of
cguipment.

Residential mobile subscription revenue includes amounts received from subscribers for ongomg services.
Residential mobile non-subscription revenue includes, among other items. interconnect revenue and resenue
from sales of mobile handsets and other devices.

B2B subscription revenuc represents revenue tfrom services 1o certain small or home oftfice (SOHO) subscribers.
SOHO subseribers pay a prenuum price to reccive expanded service levels along with broadband internet. video
and fixed-line telephony or mobile services that are the same or similar to the mass marketed products otfered to
residential subscribers. B2B non-subscription revenue includes revenue from business broadband internet. video,
fixed-line telephonv, mobile and data services offered o medium to large enterprises and on a wholesale basis.
¢ uther operators.

Other revenue primanly includes broadeastng revenue.

Revenue by major category for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 was as follows:

Restated

2020 w019 fncrease

Revenue: £ million t million {decrease)
Resdential revenue

Cable 33499 3.400.0 11.3)

Mobile 6104 6236 (2. 15

Total residential revenue o ﬁiiii}i‘rﬁﬂii 10236 {1.6)

B2B Revenue 765.8 7421 2%

Other revenue 64.2 7040 (8.3)%,

TTTTTTU4790.3 0 48357 (0.9}

The decrease in residential cable subscription revenue related to a change in ARPU was adversely impacted by
(1} the COVID-19 pandemic. most notably with respect to video serviees. including lower revenue of
approximately £72 million associaied with the loss of exclusive programming content. primarily during the
second and third quarters of 2020, comprising (a) credits that were given to certain customers and (b the
estimated impact of certain customaers cancelling their premium sports subscripions. and (i) lower reyenue
refated to regulated contract notifications.
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REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020. mobile revenue decreased to £61(.4 million from £623.6 mullion
(restated) iz 2019, The decrease in mobile revenue relates to a decrease in non-subscription revenue from mobile
handsct sales. This is partially oftset by an increase in residential mobile subscription revenue primarily due to
an increase in the average number of mobile subscribers. partially oftset by lower ARPU in the UK.

The increase in B2B subscription revenue is primarily due to an increase in the average number of broadband
internet SOHQO subscribers in the UK. The decrease in B2ZB non-subseription revenue s primarily attributable to
our operations in the UK., mcluding the net effect of (1) an increase in uptront revenue recognised tn association
with long-term leases of a portion of vur network. (i) lower revenue from data services. () a decrease m
revenue related to business network services and (1v) lower revenue trom wholesale fixed-line wlephony
services.

Summury residential cuble statistics

Selected statistics for the group’s residential cable customers are shown below:

Restated
2020 2019
Total cable customers 5.620.700 S518.100
Cable products:
Broadband mnternet 5,420,100 5,271,000
Video 3.498.000 3.687.400
Fixed-line telephone 4,463,200 4,645,500
Total cable products 13,381,300 13.563.900
Cable products per customer (i) 2.38x 2.46x
Triple play penctration 58.2% 61.8%
Cable ARPU (11} £50.10 £49.39

(1) LCach telephone. television and broadband internet subscriber directly connected to the Virgin Media group’s
network counts as one product, Accordingly. a subscriber who receives both telephone and television services
counts as two products. Products may include subscribers receiving some services for free or at a reduced rate in
connection with promotional offers.

(i} Cable ARPU is calculated by dividing the average monthly subscription revenue (excluding mterconnect
fees. channel carriage fees and late fees}) for the indicated period. by the average of the opeming and closing
number of customer relationships for the period.

The total number of cable products fell to 13381300 at 31 December 2020 from 13.563.900 ut 31 December
2019. representing a net decrease in products of [82.600.

Summary mobile statistics

Selected statistics for the group's mobile customers are shown below:

2020 2019
Postpaid mobile customers (i) 3.223.900 2915600
Prepaid mobile customers (1) 134,400 263,900
Total mebile customers 3,358,300 3179500
Mobile ARPU (11} £8.44 £8.98

tn
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REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

(1) Our mobile subscriber count represents the number of actiy ¢ subscriber identification module (SIM) cards in
service rather than services provided. For example. it a mobite subscriber has both a data and vowee plan on a
smartphone this would equate to one mobile subscriber. Alternatively. a subseriber who has a voice and data
plan for a mobile handset and a data plan for a Japiop (via a dengle) would be counted as two mobile subscribers
Customers who do not pav a recurring monthly fee are excluded fram our mobile subscriber counts after a 30
day period of inactivity.

tity Mobile monthly average revenue per user (“Mobile ARPU™) 1s caleulated by dividing the average monthly
mobile subscription revenue {(excluding sales and late fees) for the indicated period by the average of the
opening and closing balances of total mobile subscribers in service for the period.

The group added 30R.300 postpaid subscribers in 20200 Growth in postpaid subseriptions was offset by a Tower
prepaid base. resulting in an overall increase in the group’s mobile base of 178,300 in 20210,

FINANCING

As of 31 December 2624, the group had £12.776.4 million of financl habilities compared with £12.494.8
million as at 31 December 2019, The principal changes to financial habilities during the year are discussed as
tollows:

Trade Receivables Transaction

[n May 2020, Virgin Media Trade Receivables Financing ple, a third-party special purpose financing entitv. was
created for the purpose of facilnating the offering of certain notes. These notes are collateralized by certain trade
receivables of Virgin Media. creating a variable interest tn which Virgin Media is the primary benefictary and,
accordingly, Virgin Media, and ultimately Liberty Global, are requived to consolidate Virgin Media Trade
Receivables Financing ple. The offering of these notes resulted 1n net proceeds of £214.4 million (“the May 2020
procecds’).

Senior Notes Transactions

In June 2020, the group issued 2030 senor notes with principal amounts of $675.0 million. The net proceeds.
together with the May 2020 proceeds were used to redeem in full €360.0 million and $388.7 mrllion cutstanding
principal amount of 2025 senior notes.

In June 2020, the group issucd an additional 2030 senior notes with pnncipal amounts of 5230.0 milhon and
€500.0 miilion. The net procecds from the issuance of these notes were used (1) to redeem in fufl $487.0 milhon
outstanding principal amounts of existing 2024 senior potes and $123.1 million and £44.1 million outstanding
principal amounts of existing 2022 senior notes and (2) for general corporale purposes.

The new secured notes rank pari-passu with the group’s existing secured notes and subject to certain exceptions.
share in the same guarantees and scourity granted in favour of its existing sccured notes.

Senior Secured Notes Transactions

[n June 2020, the group tssued 2030 senior secured notes with principal amounts of $630.0 miilion and £450.0
million. The net proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used (1) to redecm in full £525.0 million
outstanding principal amounts of existing 2027 senior secured fiotes. (2} to redeem in full £364.0 million
outstanding principal amounts of existing 2029 senior secured notes and (3) to redeem in full £20.0 mullion ot
the £321.3 mullion outstanding principal amount of exisung 2025 senior secured notes.

{n November 2020, the group 1ssued. via a private placement 2030 sentor sceured notes with principal amounis
ol S263.0 million. £233.0 million and £30.0 million. The net proceeds trom the issuance of these notes were
used (1) redeem in full £441.3 million outstanding principal amoupts of existing 2023 senjor secured notes and
2 for general corporate purposes.

The new senior secured notes rank pari-passu with the group's existing senior secured notes and senior secured
credit facility. and subject w certain exceptions. share i the same guarantees and sceurity granted in favour of
115 CXISURYE senloT secured notes.
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FINANCING {continued)

Vendor Financing Notes Transactions

In June 2020, Virgin Media Vendor Financing Notes Ul Designated Activity Company (Virgin Media Financing
[I1 Company) and Virgin Media Vendor Financing Notes 1V Designated Activity Company (Virgin Media
Financing [V Company. and together with Virgin Media Financing [II Company. the 2020 VM Financing
Companies) were created for the purpose ot issuing certain vendor financing notes. The 2020 VM Financing
Companies are third-party special purpose financing entities that are not consolidated by Virgin Media or
Liberty Global.

Virgin Media Financing 11 Company issued vendor financing notes with principal amounts of £300.0 million
and £400.0 mithon Virgin Media Finanemg IV Company issued vendor financing notes with principal amounts
of $300.0 mitlion. The net proceeds trom the June 2020 Vendor Financing Notes were used by the 2020 VM
Financing Companics to purchase certain vendor-financed receivables of Virgin Media and ats subsidiaries from
previously-existing third-party special purpose financing entities. Virgin Media Receivables Financing Notes |
Designated Activity Company and Virgin Media Receivables Financing Notes 11 Designated Activity Company
(the Original VM Financing Companies) and various other third parties.

Other 2020 Financing Transactions

In September 2020, in connection with the formation of the UK JV on | Junce 2021, the group entered mto a
$1,300.0 millton term loan tacility. At 31 December 2020, the term loan facility 1s undrawn and only available to
be drawn and utilised upon consummarion ot the UK JV. Accordingly the group’s unused borrowing capacity at
31 December 2020, excludes the availability of the term loan facility.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

The group is exposed to volatility in its cash tlows and carnings resulting from changes n interest rates and
forcign currency exchange rates. The group has entered into various derivative imstruments with a number of
counterparties 1o manage this volatility of its cash flows and carnings.

The group has entered into cross-currency interest rate swaps 1o manage imterest rate and loreign exchange rate
currency  exposures resuling from the varable and fixed rates of interest paid on borrowings that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the borrewing entity. Additionally. the group
has entered into interest rate swaps to manage interest rate exposures resulting from the vanable rates of interest
paid on sterling denominated debt obligations and movements in fair value on certain of its sterling denominated
debt. The group has alse entered into forward rate contracts to manage foreign exchange rate currency exposures
related to certain committed and torecasted purchases. See note 21 to the group financial statements for further
information on the group’s derivative nstruments.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Financial risk management

Details of the financial risks and how they are managed are outlined in note 20 to the group financial statements.
The principal financial risks faced by the group are credit risk. interest rate risk. toreign exchange rate risk and
liguidity risk.

Principal non-financial risks

Virgin Media Finance PLC 15 a member of the Virgm Media group. which manages the principal non-financial
risks and uncertainties and 15 headed by Virgin Media Ine. These risks. among others, are discussed in more
derail in the combined tinancial statements of the Virgin Media group. The prineipal non-tinancial risks include
the tollowing:

e cconomic and business conditions and mdustry trends in the United Kingdom (UK) and Ireland:

e the competitive envitonment in the broadband ntemnet. cable televiston and telecommunications
industrics in the UK including competitor responses to our products and services:

e tluctuations in currencey exchange rates and interest rates:

o instability in glebal financial markets, including sovereign debt issues in the European Union (EUY and
related fiscal reforms:
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

consumer dispusable income and spending levels. including the avallability and amount of  individual
consumer debt:

changes in consumer television viewing and broadband nternet usage prefercnces and habits;

consumer acceptance of our existing service offerings. including our broadband internet. cable
television. fixed-line telephony and mobile and business service offerings. and of new technology.
programming alternatives and other products and services that we may offer in the future:

the group’s ability to manage rapid technological changes:

the group’s abilitv to maintain or increase the number of subscriptions to our cable television,
broadband internet. fixed-line telephuny and mobile service offerings and our average revenue per
houschold:

the group’s ability to provide satisfactory customer service. including support for new and evolving
products and services:

the group’s ability te maintain or increase rates t our subscribers or to pass through increased costs w
our subscribers:

the mmpact of the group’s tuture tnancial performance. or market conditions generally. on the
availability. terms and deployment of capial:

changes in. or failure or inability o comply with. government regulations in the UK and adverse
outcomes from regulatory proceedings:

government intervention that impairs the group’s competitive position. including any intervention that
would open the group’s broadband distribution networks to competitors and any adverse change 1n the
group’s accreditations or licenses;

the group's ability to obtain regulatery approval and satisty other condinons necessary to close
acquisitions and dispositions, and the impact of conditions imposed by competition and other regulatory
authorities in connection with acquisitions;

the group’s ability to successfully acquire new businesses and. if acquired. to integrate. realisc
anticipated cifictencies trom, and implement our business plan with respect to. the businesses we have
acquired or that we expect to acquire:

changes 1n laws or treatics relating to taxaton. or the interpretation thercof. in the UK

changes in laws and government regulatons that may impact the availability and cost of capital and the
derrvative instruments that hedge certam of the group’s financial risks:

the ability of suppliers and vendors {including vur third-party wireless network providers under the
group™> MVNO arrangements) to timely deliver quality products. equipment. software. services and

ACCesy.

the availability of attractive programming for our video services and the costs associated with such
programming:

uncertainties inherent in the development and mtegration of new business lines and busimess strategies,

the group’s ability to adequately torecast and plan future network requirements. including the costs and
benefits associated with the nerwork extension:
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES {continued)

s the availability of capital for the acquisition and or development of telecommunications networks and
services:

e problems the group may discover post-closing with the operations, including the internal controls and
financial reporting process of businesses we acquire:

+  the leakage of sensitive customer data:

e the vutcome of any pending or threatened litigation:

¢ the loss of key employees and the availability of qualified personnel:

e changes o the nature of key strategic relationships with partners and jeint venturers;

e adverse changes in public pereeption of the ~Virgin™ brand. which we and others license trom Virgin
Enterprises Limited. and any resuiting impacts on the goodwill of customers toward the group; and

s events that arc outside ot the group’s controd, such as political unrest in international markets. terrorist
attacks, malicious human acls. natural disasters. pandemics or cpidermics (such as the coronavirus
(COVID-19}) and other similar events.

Brexit

The UK's departure tfrom the European Union (EU)Y could have a material adverse effect on our business.
financial condition. results of operations or hguidity. On 23 June 2016, the UK held a referendum in which
voters approved. on an advisory basis, an exit from the EUL commonly referred to as "Brexit™.

The UK formally exited the EU on 31 January 2020. On 24 December 2020. the UK and the EU reached the
“Trade and Cooperation Agreement,” referred to as the EU-UK Agreement. On 30 December 2024, the EU-UK
Agreement was approved by the UK Parliament, with retrospective ratification from the EU Parliament expected
to tollow in 2021,

In the meantime. the EU-UK Agreement has been provistenally brought e effect. The EU-UK Agreement
focuses on four main scctors. namely trade. economic and soeial cooperation, security and governance.

Examples of the potential impact Brexit could have on our business. financial condition or results ot vperations
include:

« changes in forcign currcney exchange rates and disruptions in the capital markets:

« shortages of labour neccessary to conduct our business, including our network cxtension in
the UK.

e disruption to our UK supply chain and related increased cost of supplies:
e awcakened UK cconomy resulting in decreased consumer demand for our products and services in the
UK:

¢ legal uncertainty and potenually divergent national laws and regulatons as the UK determunes
which EU laws and directtves to replace or replicate. or where previously implemented by
cnactment of UK laws or regulations. 1o retain. amend or repeal: and

o vanwous geopolitical forces mayv mmpact the global economy and our business. including. for
cxample. other EU  member states  {(in particular  these member  states  where  we  have
operations) proposing referendums to. or electing to, exit the ELI
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (continued)
COVID-19

In March 2020. the World Health Organization deciared COVID-19 10 be a global pandemic. In response to the
COVID-19 pandemic. emergency measures have been imposed by govermments worldwide, including travel
restrictions. restrictions on social activity and the shutdown of non-cssential busincsses.

The global COVID-19 pandemic continues 1o adversely impact the econemies ol the countries in which we
operate. However. during the first quarter of 2021, the adverse impact on our company continued o be relatively
minimal as demand for our products and services remained strong.

[t is not currently possible to estimate the duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic or the adverse
cconomic impact resulting trom the preventative measures taken to contain or mitigate its outbreak. therefore no
assurance can be given that an extended period of global cconomic disruption would not have a material adverse
1mpact on our business. financial condition and resuits of operations in future periods.

FUTURE OLUTLOOK

The directors will continue to review management polictes in light of changing trading and market conditions.
Further detail of the future outlock of the group. is provided in the combined financial statements of the Virgin
Media Group for 2020, which arc available from the company secretary at Virgin Media. 300 Brook Drive,
Reading. United Kingdom. RG2 6UU and on Liberty Global s website at www libertyglobal.com.

SECTION 172 STATEMENT

This statement 1s intended to disclose how our directors have approached and met their responsibilities under
5172 Companies Act 2006,

In hne with Liberty Global's geal ot enhancing the long-term value ftor the benetit of its shareholders, the
directors of the Virgin Media oversee the management of the group. to help assure that the mterests of our
sharcholders are served.

The directors of the group. apply the Corporate Governance Guidelines (page 14). essential o our business
integrity and perlormance. Therefore. as part of group operations as a whole consider:

e long-term consequences ot decisions:

s emplovees’ interests.

e business relationships with suppliers and customers:

s the impact of our operations on the eny ironment and communities In which we operate: and
o the need to act fairly berween sharcholders.

The [cvel of engagement of the directors is critical in the group's successful investment in the infrastructure and
plattorms that empower our customers to make the most of the digial revelution and connect to the
entertainment. experiences and people they love. We believe that our scale and svnergies with our partners help
bring the best connectivity and entertainment to our custorners and. dunng 2020. the directors provided
thoughttul guidance to ensure that we enhanced and expanded our networks wisely, investing with purpose in
the technology. talent and territories with the most potential,

Customers/Partnerships — Virgin Media provides its customers with a leading. next-generation broadband
servive. one of the most advanced interactive telesision services available in the UK market and mobile services.
We believe our relationships with vur partriers help us deliver unique products and services o our custormers,
The contnued strategic involvement by the directors in these decisions te help foster these relationships s
critical to the group’s long term success,

10
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SECTION 172 STATEMENT (continued)

Responsibility — Community, Environment & Suppliers — As part of Virgin Media’s strategy. we are
committed (o growing a responsible and sustainable business. Our vision ol using digital to make good things
happen fucuses on two pillars: growing responsibly and sustainably and deing more goed with digital. As
outlined in the Directors™ Report. we have outlined fve sustamability goals to ensure that our growth and
contribution to the UK 1s delivered in a way that's good for people and the environment.

People - At Virgin Media. we know building an inclusive environment is eysential to our growth. We're working
on building a tully inclusive culture, celebrating ev ervbody™s individuality and differences. We want to empower
our people. so thev feel valued, limitless and inspired to help build meaningful connections. The Directors’
Report provides further information on Virgin Media’s policy on emiployment and disabled emplovees,

Constderation of these factors and other relevant matters i1s embedded 1nte all Virgin Media group decision-
making. strategy development and risk assessment throughout the vear. Further information is available on our
website: https:www virginmedia.com corporatessustainability and in the consolidated accounts of Liberty

Gilobal ple which are available on Liberty Global’s website at www . libertyglobal.com.

On behall of the board

L Milner

Director

28 June 2021
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The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the group and company for the year
ended 3t December 2020

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The group made a profit for the year. atter tax. of £661.2 million (2019: £577.1 million). The directors have not
recommended the payment of a dividend (2019 £nil).

DIRECTORS AND THEIR INTERESTS

The directors who served during the year and thereatier were as follows:
W T Castell (resigned 9 March 2020)

M T Fries (resigned 1 June 2021)

M ) Hitzi

R G MeNeil (appointed 9 March 2020)

L Milner (appointed 1 March 2021}

S-P Pascu (appeinted 3 March 2020, resigned 16 November 2020y

C B E Withers (appointed 23 April 2020)

The dircctors of the company have been indemniticd against Hability in respect of proceedings brought by third
parties. subject to the conditions set out in the Companies Act 2006, Such qualifying third party idemnity
provision s in force tor directors serving duning the financial vear and as at the date of approving the Directors’
Report.

EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND DISABLED EMPLOYEES

The greup remains committed to the continuing introduction and practice of progressive employment policies
which reflect changing business. social and employee needs.

The group aims te ensure that ¢veryone connected to it is treated tairly and equally. whether they are a current or
former member of s1att. job applicant. customer or supplier.

Nobody should be discriminated against. either directly or indircetly. on the grounds of gender. gender
reassignment, marital status, pregnancy, race. ethnic origin. colour, nationality., national onigin, disability, sexual
ortemation. religion or beliet, age. poliucal atfiliation or wade union membership. The policy applics w anyone
who works for. who has worked for or who applies to work tor Virgin Media or its partners. That means
permanent. temporary. casual or part-time staff. anyone on a fixed-term contract. agency statt and consultants
working with the group. ex-emplovees and people applving for jobs. This applies to all aspects of emplovment.
inctuding recruimment and traming.

The group gives tull consideration te applications trom employees with disabilities where they can adequately
tulfil the requirements ot the job. Depending on their skilis and abilities. emplovees with a disability have the
same opporunines for promotion. career development and trammg as other employees. Where existing
emplovees become disabled. it 15 the group’s policy to provide continuing emplovment wherever practicable in
the same or an alternative position and to provide approprate training to achieve this aim.

In line with Liberty Global's -Code of Business Conduct” (the ~Code™). the group’s emplovees and directors are
expected to display responsible and ethical behaviour. to follow consistently both the meaning and intent of this
Code and o act with integrity in all of the group’s business dealings. Managers and supertisors are expected to
take such action as is necessary and appropriate o ensure that the group’s business processes and practices are in
tull compliance with the Code.
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EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND DISABLED EMPLOYEES {continued)

Emplovee Involvement
The group 18 dedicated to increasing the practical involvement of individuals in the running of s business. 1t
seeks to achies e this as follows:

» all employees are encouraged to understand the aims ot the group and of their own business arca and to
contribute to improving business performance through their knowledge. experience. ideas and
suggestions. This requires strong communication to ¢nsure that employees are bricted as widely as
possible about activities and developments across Virgin Media. The online news channel. open
forums, newsletters and tcam meetings play important roles in this. as do the development ol people
management skills and the ongoing conversatiens about performance and development which underpin

perfonnance consersalions.

s the group ensures that all emplovees are involved and consulted through “Voice™ which operates at a
national, divisional and local level [t enables emplovees and employers to have an open and transparent
relationship with a flow of informaton. It is focused around sharing information, involving cmploycees
in decision making, gaining access to knowledge and experience or resolving differences ot opinion,
Involving emplovees in decision making cnhances confidence and job satisfaction. creates a sense of
belonging and empowerment. reduces stress and impacts positively on wellbemg.

The group fosters a team spirit amoeng employees and their greater involvement by otfering participation in
bonus er local variable reward schemes and team development opportunities. Virgin Media also operates various
recognition schemes which are designed to reward employees tor behaviours which are consistent with the
Virgin Media values and has a volunteering scheme which allows employees to take five days cach year to
volunteer with registered charities or organisations of their choice.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SUSTAINABILITY POLICIES

Corporate Responsibility and Sustainability

Virgin Media has a comprehensive five vear sustainability strategy in place which sets out how we will support
and connect communities across the UK, reduce our impact on the environment and continue to become a more
inclusive company.

Our strategy is called the *Mceaninglul Connecttons Plan™ and we have set tar-reaching goals across three key
arcas: people. the planet and communities.

People

Virgin Media will create new opportunitics for hundreds of people from underrepresented communities so they
can access skills and cmployment. This includes women in STEM. disabled people. people from LGBTQ+.
underrepresented ethnicities, neurodiverse and other communities with low social equity.

Planet
Virgin Media has set goals to achieve net zero carbon operations {Scopes | and 2) and zero waste operations by
the end of 2025,

This will be achieved via energy efliciency measures. cutling emissions. sourcing renewable power supply and
reducing waste by increasing reuse matertals across our products and operations.

Communities
Virgin Media will use its connectivity and presence in towns and ¢itics nationwide 1o suppert projects which
create 1.5 million meaningtul cennections to create greater community belonging.

Virgin Media has also begun a five year strategic partnership with the charity. Carers UK. which will use
technology und innovation to address the loncliness experienced by cight out of ten unpaid carcrs. and will work
together to connect more carers to each other and to their communities.

The company and group made no pelitical contributions during the tinancial vear that would require disclosure
{2019 - £nil}.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SUSTAINABILITY POLICIES {continuned)

A member of Virgin Media’s Executive Committee is responsible tor cach of the three key areas of the
Meaningtul Connections Plan. The strategy has been develeped by Virgin Media's Sustainability team which
annually reports progress being made against long-term goals.

Throughout 2020, Virgin Media continued to make progress on social and environmental goals. highlights
inciude:

e  Since 2018. 1.204.427 disabled people have accessed the Support to Work employvment service —
funded by Virgin Media and our previous charity partner. Scope. This has helped disabled people to
gain the skills and confidence to get and stav in work:

¢  Since 2019, Virgin Media's operational carbon footprint {Scope 1&2) has reduced by 7% across UK
and Ireland and 46% against our previous 2014 baseline:

e Also delivered a 13, reduction in scope 3 emussions since 2019 bascline: and

e Virgin Media continues te source 100°, of electricity from renewable sources as a member of the
REIT00 initiative and in November 2020 became a founding signatery ot the Media Climate Pact. In
addition. Virgin Medlia also achieved zero waste to landtill across all site based and logistics operations.

Virgin - Media  communicates  regularly  updates  on pertormance and  kev  highlights  via
www. virginmedia.com: sustainability.

GOING CONCERN

As Virgin Media Finance PLC is either a direct or indircet parent of all of the trading companies in the Virgin
Media group. these consolidated financial statements include substantially all of the trade and assets of the
overall Virgin Media group. Whilst forecasts and projections. which take account of reasonably possible changes
in trading performance. have not been prepared at a Virgin Media Finance PLC group level. they have been
prepared for the Virgin Media group as a whole. These forecasts and projections showed that cash on hand.
together with cash front vperations and the undrawn revelving credit facility, are expected to be sutficient tor the
Virgin Media group's and hence the group’s cash requirements through to at least 12 months from the date of
this report,

Taking into account these forccasts und projections and after making enquiries, the directors have a reasonabic
expectation the group has adequate support and resources to continue in operational existence for at least 12
months tfrom the date of the signing of these financial statements.

For these reasons the directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these financial statements.
Consideration ot the ongoing impact of COVID-19 has not altered this conclusion.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The group 1s commuitted to conducting business with honesty. integrity and respect. Corporate governance aftects
the wav the group directs its relationship with 1ts stakeholders. The group believes that the highest standards of
corporate gosemance are essential t the group’s business integrity and performance. The group has adopred a
number of pulicies and procedures w support selid corporate govenance in every area of the group’s operations.

Corporate Governance Guidelines adopted by Liberty Global ple’s Board of Directors serve as a {ramework for
Board govemance over the affairs of the group for the benetit of its sharcholders. These include Code of
Business Coenduct. Code of Ethics. Audit Commintee Charter. Compensation Committee Charter. Nominating
and Corporate Govemance Committee Charter and Succession Planming Committee Charter.

Further information on Corpurate Governance s available tw the public on Liberty Global's website at
www libertvglobal.com or under the heading “Corporate Responsibility™. The information on the website is not
part of this report.
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POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Disposal of investments in subsidiaries
On 4 March 2021, as part of a wider group restructure. the group disposed of s investments in Cullen
Broadcasting Limited and Tullamore Beta Limited.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO THE AUDITOR

So far as each persen who was a director at the date of approving this report is aware. there is no relevant audit
intformation. being mformanon required by the auditor in connection with preparing its report, of which the
auditor is unaware. Having made engquiries of frllow dircctors and the group’s auditer, cach director has taken
all the steps that hesshe is obliged to take as a director in order o make himsclt herselt aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the auditor 15 aware of that informaton.

AUDITOR

KPMG LLP will be re-appointed under section 487{2) of the Companies Act 2006,

This report was approved by the board on 28 June 2021 and signed on 1ts behal £

A

C B E Withers
Diractor



Virgin Media Finance PLC

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and
Financial Statements

for the vear ended 31 December 2020

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and parent Company tinancial
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and parent Company tinancial statements tor cach
financial vear. Under that the law they are required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with
international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companics Act 2006 and
applicable law and they have elected to prepare the parent Company financial statements 1n accordance with UK
accounting standards and applicable. including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framewaork.

Under company law the directors must not approve the tinancial statements unless they arce saustied that they
aive a true and fair view of the state of atfairs of the Group and parent Company and ot their profit or loss for
that period. In preparing each of the Group and Parent company financial statements. the directors are required
1o

e select surtable accounting policies and then apply them consistentlv:
«  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant. reliable and prudent:

* for the Group financial statements, stale whether they have been prepared in accordance with mternational
accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006:

s for the parent Company financial statements, state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been
tollowed. subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the linancial statements:

»  assess the Group and parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concem. disclosing, as applicable.
matters related to going coneern: and

* use the going concem basis of accounting uniess they either intend to hguidate the Group or the parent
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for kecping adequate accounting records that are sufticient to show and explain the
parent Company’s transactions and disclose with rcasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
parent Company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006,
They are responsible Tor such inerpal control as they determine is necessary W cnable the preparation of
financial statements that are free trom material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error. and have general
responsibility tor taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to sateguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and deteet traud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations. the directors are also responsible for preparing a Strategic Report and a
Dircetors’ Report that complies with that law and those regulations.

The dircetors arc responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial intormation
included on the company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ from legislation in other junisdictions.



Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC
1 Our opinion is unmodified

We have audited the financial statements of Virgin Media Finance ple ¢“the Company™) for the vear ended 31
December 20200 which comprise the group income statement and statement ot comprehensive income. group
balance sheet. group statement of changes of equitv. group cash flow stalement. company balance sheet,
company statement of changes in cquity. and the related notes. including the accounting polictes innote 2 in the
consolidated financial statements and note 2 in the company financial statements.

[n our opinion:

s the financial staterments give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the parent Company s
atfairs as at December 31, 2020 and of the Group's protit for the year then ended:

o the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with intermational accounting
standards i conformity with the requirements ot the Compantes Act 2006:

e the parent Company tinancial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting
standards. including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework: and

e the linancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Intermanonal Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)Y™) and
applicable law. Our responsibilitics are described below. We have fulfilled our cthical responsibilities under.,
and are independent of the Group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements meluding the FRC Ethreal
Standard as applied to listed entties. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and
appropriate basis tor our opinton.

2 Kev audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement

Key audit matters are those matiers that, in our professional judgment. were of most sigmficance in the audit of
the financial statements and nclude the most signilicant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not
due to fraud) wenufied by us. including those which had the greatest effeet on: the overall audit stralegy: the
allocanon of resources 1n the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole. and in forming our opinien thercon.
and we do not provide a scparate opinion on these matters. In arriving at our audit opinton above, the key audit
matters. in decreasing order of audit significance. were as follows:

Group: Capitalization of costs associated with construction and installation activities

The risk — Overstatement of profits:

Certain internal and extemal labour and overhead costs incurred arc capitalized as part of Property and
equipment {part of which is included within its the net book value of £5.647m (2019 £6.098m)). Thesc
capitalized costs arc associated with the capital projects undertaken by the group and involve estimation of the
amount of time and costs that should be capitabised. The most significant risk is that the group may
inappropriately capitalize construction and installation costs. The key risks in determining if construction and
installation costs quality for recogmtion as an asset, include whether the costs are dircetly attributable to
bringing the assct to the locaton and ¢ondition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by the group: it is probable that tuture economic benetits associated with the item will flow to the group, and if
the cost can be measured reliably.
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Group: Capitalization of costs associated with construction and installation activities (continued)

Our response
Qur procedures meluded:

Control operations - We evaluated the design and implementation of key internal controls in place to identify
which construction and installation costs should be capitalized. and tested their operating etfectveness.

Personnel interviews - We challenged the amount of internal costs capitalized during the vear by comparing to
budgets. interviewing department heads to determine the level of time individuals have spent on capital items.
and analysed the changes to significant estimates utilized by the group to determine the amount of internal costs
to be capitalized {(if any). and other changes in the business with a potential impact on cost capitalization during
the year.

Tests of details - For both internal and external costs capitalised we selected a sample of property and cquipment

additions on costs capitalized and assessed the nature of the costs based on underlying internal and third party
documentaiion therchy assessing the appropriateness of the group’s cost capitalization conclusions.

Parent Company: Recoverability of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries

The risk - low risk high value:

The carrying amount of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries of £4.699 4m (2019: £4.699 4m) represents
70.4% of the company’s total assets. Their recoverability is not at a high risk of significant misstatement or
subject to significant judgment. However. due to therr materiality in the context of the tinancial statements, this
is considered to be the arca that had the greatest effect on our overall audit of the parent company

Chir response
Our procedures included:

Tests of detail: We compared the carrying amount ot material investments with the celevant subsidiaries” balance
sheet to identity whether their net assets. being an approximation of their minimum recoverable amount. were in
excess of their carrving amount and assessing whether those subsidiaries has e historically been profit-making.

Assessing subsidiary audits: We assessed the work performed by the subsidiary audit teams of those subsidiaries
where audits are performed and considered the results of that work on those subsidiaries’ profits and net assets.

3 Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit

Matcriahity for the group financial statements as a whole was set at £47.9m (2019: £35] . 6m). determined with
reference to a benchmark of revenue adjusted for discontinued operations of £4.790.3m (2019: £3168m) of
which it represents 1.0%6 (20H9: 1.0°%). We consider revenue to be the most appropriaic benchmark as it provides
a more stable measure vear on year than group profit betore tax.

Materiality for the parent company financial statements as 2 whole wus set at £33.4m (2019: £3].0m),
determined with reference to a benchmark of Company total assets. of which it represents (L.5% (2019: (,8%0).

[n line with our audit methedology. our procedures on individual account balances and disclosures were
pertormed to a lower threshold. pertormance materialitv. so as to reduce to an acceptabie level the risk that
mndividually immaterial missiatements in individual account balances add up to a matcrial amount across the
financial statements as a whole.

Performance mateniality was set at 737, (20190 73%0) of materiality for the financial statements as a whule,
which equates to £35.9m (2019: £38.8m) for the group and £25.1m (2019 £38.3m) for the parent company. We
applicd this percentage in our determination of pertormance materiality because we did not identify any factors
indicating an clevated level of nisk,
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3 Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit (continued)

We agreed 1o report to the Audit Commitiee any corrected or uncorrected identilied misstatements exceeding
£2.4m in addition o other identified misstatements that warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

The Group team performed the audit of the Group as if 1t was a single aggregated set of financial information.
The audit was performed using the mateniatity and performance mateniality level set cut above,

4 Going Concern

The Directors have prepared the financial statements on the geing concern basis as they do net intend to
liquidate the Company or the Group or to cease their operations. and as they have concluded that the Company’s
and the Group’s tinancial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no
material uncertaintics that could have cast significant deubt over their ability to continue as a gong coneern for
at lcast a vear from the date et approval of the financial statements (“the going concern pernod™).

We used our knowledge of the Group and Company. its industrv, and the general cconomic environment tw
identify the nherent risks to its business model and analvsed how those risks might attect the Group’s and
Company’s tinancial resources or ability to continue operations over the going concern period. The nisks that we
considered most hikely to adversely affect the Group and Company s available financial resources and/or metrics
relevant to debt covenants over this period were:

- Ability to continuc to perform and provide services under the lockdowns in the UK and [reland, as a
resulit of the COVID-19 pandemic
- Current levels of debt driven by Vendor Financing arrangements

We considered whether thesc risks could plausibly affect the Liquidity or covenant compliance in the going
concern period by assessing the Directors” sensitivities over the level of available financial resources and
covenant thresholds indicated by the Group and Company s financial forecasts taking account ol severe. but
plausible adverse effecis that could arise trom these risks individually and collectively.

We considered whether the going concern disclosure in note 2 to the financial statements gives a full and
accurate descripion of the Directors™ assessment of going concern. in¢luding the identified nisks and related
sensitivities,

Our conclusions based on this work:

. we consider that the Directors™ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
financial statements is appropriate,

. we have not identitied, and concur with the Directors” assessment that there is not. a material
uncertainty related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt
on the Group or Company’s abtlity o continue as a going concern for the going concemn peried:

. we have nothing material to add or draw attention to in relation to the Directors” statement in note 2 to
the tinancial statements on the usc of the going concern basis of accounting with no material
unccertaintics that may cast signiticant doubt over the Group and Company’s use of that basis tor the
going concern period, and we found the going concern disclosure in note 2 te be acceptable.

lTowever, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes
that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time thev were made. the aboy e conclusions are
not a guarantee thar the Group and Company will continue in operation.

5 Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect

Identifving and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

Tou identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud {“fraud risks™} we assessed events or conditions that

could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk
assessment procedures included:
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5 Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect {continued)
. Enquiring of dircctors and management as to the Group high-level policics and procedures to prevent

and detect fraud. including the mtemal audit function, and the Group channel {or “whistleblowing™. as
well as whether they have knowledge of any actual. suspected or alleged fraud:

. Reading Board minutes:

. Considering remuncration incentive schemes and performance targets for management. directors:

. Using analytical procedures w 1dentify any unusual or unexpected refationships:

. Using our own forensic specialists to assist us in idenufying fraud risks based on discussions of the

circumsiances of the Group

We communicated identitied fraud risks throughout the audit teamn and remained alert to any indications of tiaud
throughout the audit. This imcluded communication from the group to component audit teams of relevant fraud
risks identitted at the Group level and request to component audit teams to report to the Group audit team any
instances ot fraud that could give rise to a material misstatement at group.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account pessible pressures o meet profit targets. we perform
procedures o address the risk of management override ot contrels. in particular the risk that Group and
component management may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries and the risk ot bias in
accounting cstimates and judgements such as impairment. On this audit we do not behieve there is a frand risk
related to revenue recognition because of the straight-forward recognition of cable revenue over time. and the
low value nature ot the individual revenug transactions,

We also identified a fraud risk related to inappropriate capitalisation of external and internal costs in response to
possible pressures to meet profit targets. Further detail in respect of the inappropriate capitalization of external
and internal costs 15 set vut in the key audit matter disclosures in section 2 of this report.

In determining the audit procedures, we took into account the results of our evaluation and testing of the
operating effectiveness ot the Group-wide traud risk management controls,

We also performed procedures including:
. ldentifying journal entries to test for all fuil scope components based on risk criteria and comparing the

identified entrics 1w supporting documentation. These included those posted by senior tinance
management. those posted and approved by the same user and those posted to unusual accounts

. Evaluated the business purpose of significant unusual transactions
. Assessing significant accounting estimates for bias

Ideniifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and
regulations

We identified arcas of laws and regulations thart could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the
financial statemments from our general commercial and sector experience. and through discussion with the
directors and other management (as required by auditing standards). and from inspection of the Group's
regulatory and legal correspondence and discussed with the directors and other management the policies and
procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.

As the Greup ts regulated. our assessment of risks imvolved gaining an understanding of the control environment
including the entity™s procedures for complying with regulatory requirements.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of
nen-compliance throughout the audit. This included communication from the group 1o component audit teams of
relevant laws and regulations identified at the Group level. and a request for component auditors to report to the
group team any instances of non-comphance with laws and regulations that could give risc to a material
misstatement at group.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements sarics considerably .
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5 Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect (continued)

Firstly, the Group is subject 1o laws and regulations that directly affect the linancial statements including
financial reporting legislation (including related companics legistation), distributable profits legislation, taxation
legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on
the related financial statement items.

Sccondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements. for nstance through the
imposition of tines or litigation or the loss of the Group's license to operate. We denutied the foilowing areas
as those most likely to have such an etfect: data and privacy law reflecting the growmg amount ot persenal data
held and competition and markets regulation. recognising the nature of the Group's activities. Auditung standards
limut the required andir procedures to identity non-compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry ot the
directors and other management and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence. it anv. Theretfore. if a
breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident from relevant correspondence, an audit will not
detect that breach.

We discussed with the audit commiltee matters related to actual or suspected breaches of laws or regulations, for
which disclosure is not necessary. and considered any implications for our audit.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit. there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some
material misstatements in the tinancial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our
audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the turther removed non-compliance with laws and
regulations is trom the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently
limited procedures required by auditing standards would identity it.

In addition. as with anv audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud. as these may involve
collusion. forgery. intentional omissions, misrepresentations. or the override ot internal controls. Our audit
procedures are designed Lo detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance
or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

6 We have nothing to report on the other information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other intormation presented in the Annual Report together with the financial
staternents.  Qur opinion on the financial statements does not caver the other information and, accordingly. we
do not express an audit opinion or. except as explicitly stated below. any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility 13 fo read the other information and. in doing so. consider whether, based on our financial
statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial
statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work we have not dentified material misstatements in
the other information.

Strategic report and Directors’ repart

Based solely on our work on the other information:

¢ we have not identitied material misstatements in the Strategic report and the Directors” report:

e in our epinten the information given in those reports for the (nancial year 15 conststent with the financial
statements: and

* in our opimion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006,
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7 We have nothing to report on the other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required w report 1o vou il in our opinton:

¢ adequate accounting rccords have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

e the parent Company financial statements are not i agreement with the accounting recerds and returns: or

s certain disclosures of directors” remuneration specified by law are not made: or

¢ we have not recerved all the intormation and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.
8 Respective responsibilities

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more tully in their statement set out on page 16, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of
the financial statements including being satisfied that thev give a true and fair view; such internal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of (inancial statements that are {ree (fom malterial misstatement.
whether due to fraud or error: assessing the Group and parent Company s ability to continue as & going concern,
disclosing. as applicable. matters related to going concern: and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless they either intend to liguidate the Group or the parent Company or to ccase operations, ur han ¢ ne realistc
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the finangial statements as a whole are free
trom material misstatement, whether due¢ to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report.
Reasenable assurance is a high level of assurance. but does not guarantee that an audir conducted in accordance
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise trom traud or
error and arc considered material if. individually or in aggregate. they couid reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions ot users taken on the basis of the tinancial statements.

A tuller description  of our responsibilities  is  provided on  the FRC,  website  at
www. fre.org.uk auditersresponsibilities.

9 The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe oor responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company s members, as a body. int accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Compantes Act 2006, Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state o the Company s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law. we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company's members. as a body. for our andit work. tor this report. ur for the opinions we have formed.

Antony Whittle (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered dccotntants

L St Peter’s Square

Manchester

M2 3ALR

29 June 2021



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Income Statement and Statement of Other Comprehensive Income
For the vear ended 31 December 2020

Restated™
2020 2019
Notes £ million £ million
Revenue 3 4.790.3 48337
Cost of sales ~ 41.6530.6) {1.638.5)
Gross profit 3.139.7 3.197.2
Administrative expenscs (2.818.2) (2.159.7)
Group operating profit 4 321.5 10375
Finance income 157.6 187.2
Finance costs 8 (968.5 (884.2)
Net finance costs (_5_1&9_} (397.0}
{Loss)/profit before tax { 184.4) 640.5
Income tax benefit/(expensc) Y 173.7 (103.0}
(Loss)/profit for the vear from continuing operations (15.7) 537.5
Profit from discontinued operation (attributable to equity holders of
the company) 22 676.9 39.6
Profit for the vear 661.2 3771
Other comprehensive income
Ttems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Actuarial gains. (losses) on defined benetit pension plans 28 5.6 17.2)
Tax {expense)/benetit on defined benetit pension plans 9 {0.9) 1.0
4.7 {6.2)
Items that will or may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Impact of movements n cash Mow hedges 21 4.7 5.4
Exchange ditferences on the retranslation of foreign operations ey 18.2
(7.2} 23.6
Tatal comprehensive income for the vear attributable to equity
holders 658.7 3945
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parem 6459 5758
Non-contrelling interests 12.8 13.7
658.7 594.5

The notes on pages 27 ta 77 form part of the tinancial statements.

*On 30 Nosember 2020, the group sold its Inish subsidiary UPC Broadband Ircland Limited 1o another
subsidiary of Liberty Global that 15 cutside of the Virgin Media Group. This has been reported as a discontinued
operation (see note 22} and the prior year comparative information has been restated accordingly.




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2020

Non-current assets

Intangible asscts

Property. plant and equipment
Financial assets

Trade and other recetvables
Deferred tax assets

Defined benefit pension plan assct

Current assets

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables
Im entones

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Financial liabilitics
Provisions

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Financial liabilitics

Provisions

Detined benetit pension plan liability

Total liabilities
Net assets

Capital and reserves

Equity share capital

Share premium account

Other capital reserves

LUnrealised gains and losses

Foreign currency translation rescrve

Retamned carnings

Virgin Media Finance PLC group shareholders’ equity
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

The notes vn pages 27 to 77 torm part of the financial statements.

These financial statements were approved by the directors on 28

L Milner:
Director
Company Registration Number: 05061757

Notes

10
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31 December

31 December

2020 2019

£ million £ million
22393 2444 3
56470 6.098 1)
£.234.0 54224
718 36.3
1.718.1 15442
924 86.4
16.002.6 15.632.1
7525 825
6033 650.9
134 546
(9.3 339

[ FI8.5 8219
17.421.1 16.454.0
{1.6%9.6) {1.391.9)
12.152.9) (2.031.3)
(2.7 (3.6)
(3.8435.2) (3.626.8)
(21.5) (26.8)
(10.622.5) (10.463.5)
(6%.1) (124.9)

- (7.9)
(10.713.1) (10.623.1)
(14.358.3) 114.249.9)
2862 % 2.204.1
0.1 0.1
625.9 625.9
(2.093.6) {2.093.6)
154 10.7
174 393
12259 3.572 8
2.791.1 21452
71T 559
28628 22040

June 2021 and are signed on their behalf by:




Virgin Media Finance PLC

Group Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Y Lanuars 20HY

[otal cornprehensive wworme
Lecounting change

At S0 December 209

AT Tanuar, 20

Fotal comptehenaite meome
A3 December 20210

Attributable to owners ot the parent

k.quity share Share Other capital LUnrealised Foreign Retained Tl equiry Non- Lotal equity
capital premium TENETVEN pains and curreney carnings Controlling
accounr fosses transtation interest
reserve
£ million £ million £ million £ millicn £ millivn £ million £ million £ million £ million
R RIS [MOSERE 40 1 RIS 153 di tanlu s
- - 35 34 [N 4607 a7 393 5
. - - 9y - )y
H25 Y [RRRH 0~ M3 LETIY > 334 2204 1
1N} 758 12K 6y 107 pUR LAT2 Y 245 0 S 4
- - N tll 9t s 124 L
01 6230 12,093 61 134 174 2L LT 2562 %

[he notes on pages 2710 77 form part of the financial siatements

See nele 23 for an explanation of cach resene



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Cash Flow Statement
for the vear ended 31 December 2020

Notes
Operating activities
Profit for the vear
Profit from discontinued operations 22

(Loss)/profit before income tax including discontinued operations

Adjustments to reconcile profit for the vear attributable to equine holders of
the parent to net cush mflow from operating activitivs

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11
Amertisation of intangible assets 16
[mpairment of network asscts

Net finance costs

Share-based pavments

[ncome taxes

Gamns on disposal of property. plant and equipment

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations

Unrealised losses on derivative instruments

Non-cash foreign exchange movements

Decreuse m trade and other receivables

Increase in inventorics

{Increasce) in prepayments and other assets

[ncrease (decrease} in trade and other pavables

[nerease 10 accruals. deferred income and other current liabdities
{Decrease)increase in delerred income and other long term liabilities
(Decrease) in provisions

Net cash inflow provided by continuing operating activities

Net eash inflow from discontinued operating activities

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Investing activities

Purchase of property. plant and equipment

Loans to parent and group undertakings

{Losses)proceeds on sale ol property, plant and equipment

Proceeds on sale of discontinued operations a2
Change in restricted cash

[nterest received

Net cash ouvtflow from continuing investing activities

Nt cash outflow from discontinued invesung acuvines

Net cash outflow from investing activities

Financing activities

Interest paid

Settlement of cross currency interest rare swaps

New borrowings. net of tfinancing tees

Repavment of borrowings

Capital lease pavments

Net cash outflow from continuing financing activities
Net cash outtlow lrom discontinued linancing activities
Net cash vutflow from financing activities

Etfect of cxchange rates on cash and cash equivalents

Net {decreaselincrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at | January 1
1

[

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

The nutes on pages 27 to 77 form part of the hnancial statements.

26

Restated
2020 2019
£ mitlion £ million
061.2 3771
1676.9) (39.6)
 asm s
98%.1 983 4
174.5 193.1
- (464.6)
117.2 S48.2
174 42.0
(37.5 122.
1.2y {3.3)
(66%.5) -
2272 1809
(142.2) {140 9y
172 1689
R.0 6.6
(437 {119 3)
20l (14.9)
146.3 2315
(3.2} l6.1
(39.3) (1.4}
1.0227 2.386.5
1347 78,1
L7574  2deds
{401 8y (400.9)
{896.5) (444.9)
0.3} 2.2
4788 -
(17 {16.3)
2771 2842
(GRS (375.9)
(2413 (27.2)
(5845 (603.1}
1354.4) 1619 7)
1302 74
38310 39757
63704 (3.238.1)
(425} (45.6)
(1186 1) {1 84003
s e
(191 6) (18424
4.1 (1.4)
(14.6) 177
339 162
193 339




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

1

Authorisation of financial statements and statement of compliance with [FRS

The consolidated financial statements of Virgin Media Finance PLC for the year ended 31 December 2020 were
authorised for issuc by the board of dircctors on June 2021 and the Group Balance Sheet was signed on the
board’s behalf by L Milner. Virgin Media Finance PLC is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled
in the UK. The company’s shares are not publicly traded although the Senwor Notes issued by the company are
registered on The International Stock Exchange in Guemsey.

Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted by the group are set out below and have all been applied consistently
throughout the current year and the preceding vear except as discussed below.

Basis of preparation
These financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis and under the histoncal cost basis in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and International Financial Reporting Standards (1FRS™).

In accordance with IFRS 5 non-current assets held tor sale and disconunued operations”, the comparative prolit
and loss account has been re-presented so that the disclosures in relation to discontinued operations relate 1o all
operations that have been discontinued by the balance sheet date (see note 22).

A discontinued operation is a component of the group that has been disposed of or is classitied as held
for sale and that represents a separate major line of business or geographical arca ot operations, 1s
part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of such a line of busincss or arca of operations. or is a
subsidiary  acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results of discontinued operations are
presented separately in the statement of profit or loss

Going concern

Notwithstanding net current liabilities ot £2.426.7 mullion as at 3! December 2020 for the group and a profit for
the group for the vear of £661.2 million. the financial statements have been approved on the assumptien that the
group remains a going concern. The following paragraphs summarise the basis on which the directors have
reached their conclusion.

[t 1s Virgin Media's practice for operational and financial management to be undertaken at a group level rather
than for ndividual entitics that are wholly owned by the group. Treasury operations and cash management for
all of Liberty Global's wholly owned subsidiaries are managed on a Liberty Global group basis. As part of
normal business practice, regular cash flow forecasts for both short and long term commitments are undertaken
at group level.

As Virgin Media Finance PLC is either a direct or indirect parent ot substantially all of the trading companies in
the Virgin Media group. these consolidated financial statements include substantially all of the trade and assets
of the overall Virgin Media group. Whilst forecasts and projections. which take account ot reasonably possible
changes in wrading performance, have not been prepared at a Virgin Media Finance PLC group level, they have
been prepared for the Virgin Media group as a whole. These indicate that cash on hand. together with cash {rom
operations, repayment of amounts due to Virgin Media from the Liberty Global group and undrawn revolving
credit facilities. are expected to be sufficient for the Group’s cash requirements through to at lcast 12 months
from the approval of these financial statements. In addition, Virgin Media Ine. has tormally indicated its
imtention to continue to support the company tinancially for at least this period.

Whilst the detailed cash flow forecasts are prepared at the group level, the directors have also assessed the
position of the company. Netwithstanding net habilities of £3.131.1 millien as at 31 December 2020 this
assessment indicates that. taking account of reasonably possible downsides, the company will have sufficient
resources. through funding trom fellow subsidiary companies to meet its liabilities as they tall due for that
period.

As with any company placing reliance on other group entities lor {inancial support. the directors acknowledge
that there can be no certainty that this support will continue although. at the date ol approval of these tinancial
statements. they have no reason to believe that it will not do so. Consequently, the dircetors are confident that
the company will have sufficient funds to continue to meet its liabilitics as they fall due for at least 12 months
from the date ot approval of the tinancial statements and have prepared the financial statements on a gomg
concern basis. Consideration of the ongoing impact of COVID-19 and the Contribution Agreement {referred to
in note 32) has not altered this conclusion.
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the vear ended 31 December 2020

2

Accounting policies (continued)

Variahle interest entities

On 30 November 2018, in connection with certain Liberty Global group reorganisations. the group completed
the wransfer of Liberty Property tioldeo 1 Limited and Liberty Property Holdeo 11 Limited from the group to
Liberty Property Holdeo 1T Limited. another subsidiary of Liberty Global group outside of Virgin Media group.
Liberty Property Holdeo I Limited. Liberty Property Holdeo 1l Limited and Liberty Property Holdeo [II are
collectively referred to as “the Liberty Property Companics.” The assets held by the Liberty Property
Companies are used by the group creating a variable interest in the Liberty Property Companies for which the
group Is the pnmary beneticiary and. accordingly. the group is required to consolidate the Liberty Property
Companies.

Followmg the completion of the joint venture with Echo Bideco SARL, the Liberty Property Companies will no
longer be conselidated in the group tinancial statements ot Virgin Media Finance PLC {sce note 32).

Judgemenis and key sources of estimation uncertaingy

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported for assets and habilities as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported for revenues
and cxpenses during the vear. The nature of estimation means that actual cutcomes could differ from those
estimates.

The most significant judgements and estimations used by munagement in the process of applymg the group's
accounting policies are discussed below:

Impairment of intangible assets
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite hves are assessed for impairment annually and when such

indicators eXist.

When value in use calculations are undertaken. management must estimate the cxpected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to caleulate the present vatue of
these cash flows. Where fair value less cost o sell 15 used. the valuation must represent the fair value of the

ash-generating unit in an orderly transaction between market participants under current market conditions. less

<

costs to sell.

Deferred tux ussets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tux losses and allowances to the extent that it 15 probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Signiticant judgement 15 required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised. based upon the Likely timing and the level of
future taxable profits together with tuture tax planning strategics.

Details of the measurement of the group’s delerred tax asset recognition and measurement are provided in note
9.

Propern. plant and equipment

Depreciation is provided on all property. plant and equipment. other than frechold land. on a straight-line basis
at rates caleulated to write ot the cost of cach asset over the shorter of its leasing period or estimated usctul
life. The estimation of an assets useful cconomic life has a significant effect on the annual depreciation charge.
The useful life and carrying values are reviewed annually for impairment and where adjustments are required.
these are made prospectively.

The nature and amount of labour and other costs to be capitalised with respect to construction and installaticn
activities involves sigmficant judgement. [n addition to direct external and internal labour and materials. the
group also capitalises other costs directly atributable to the group’s construction and installabon activities.
including dispatch costs. qualitv-control costs. vehicle-related costs and certain warehouse-related costs. The
capitalisation of these costs is based on time sheets. time studies, standard costs. call racking svstems and other
verifiable means that directly link the costs mcurred with the applicable capitalisabie activity. The group
continuously monitors the appropriateness of its capitalisation policies and update the policies when necessary
to respond 1o changes in facts and circumstances, such as the development of new products and services. and
changes in the manner that installations or construction activities are pertormed

28




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

2

Accounting policies (continued)

Fuir value measurement of financial instruments

Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value ot financial instruments (where active market
quotes are not available) and non-tinancial asscts. This imvolves developing estimates and  assumptions
consistent with how market participants would price the instrument.

Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Management bases its assumptions on observable data as tar as possible but this is not always available. [n that
case management uses the best information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that
would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date (see note 21).

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiarics are entities controlled by the group. The group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
nghts to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability 1o affect those rewums through
tts power over the entity. In assessing contrel. the group takes into censideration potential voting rights. The
acquisition date is the date on which control is transferred to the acquirer. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that conwrol ceases. [osses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the
non-controlling interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.

Business combinations under common control

Business combinations between entities thar are under common contrel are accounted for at book value. The
assets and liabilities acquired or transterred are recognised or derscognised at the carrving amounts previously
recognised n the group controlling sharehelder's conselidated financial statements. The components of equity
of the acquired entities are added to the same components within the group cquity and any gain:loss arising s
recogniscd directly in equity.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

[ntra-group balances and transactions. and any unrcalised income and expenses arising from intra-group
transactions, are climinated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are
eliminated against the investment to the extent of the group’s interest in the investee, Unreahised losses are
climinated 1n the same wayv as unrealised gains. but only to the extent that there 18 no cvidence of impairment.

Foreign currency translation

The group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in pound sterling. which is also the parent
company’s functional currency. Transactions i foreign currencies are intially recorded n the lecal entity’s
tunctional currency by applying the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilitics denomimated in foreign currencics are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling
at the balance sheet date. All exchange ditferences are included in the Group Income Statement. except where
hedge-accounting is applied and for differences on monetary asscts and liabilities thal form part ot the group’s
net investment in a foreign operation. These are recerded directly in equity until the disposal of the net
investment. at which time they are reclassilied from cquity to profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms ot historical cost in a forcign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at tair value in a forcign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair valuc was determined.

Goodwill

Business combmations, other than common conirol business combinations, are accounted for using the
acquisition method as at the acquisition date. which is the date on which control is transterred to the group. The
group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

e the fair value of the consideration wansterred; plus

e the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree: plus

» the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree: less

o the net recognised amount (generalty fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed.

Costs related 1o acquisitions. other than those associated with the issuc of debt or cquity sccurities. are expensed
as imceurred.
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the vear ended 31 December 2020

2

Accounting policies (continued)

Goodwill (continued)
When the excess Is negative any gain on bargain purchase is recognised in protit or loss immediately.

Any contingent consideration pavable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent
vonsideration is classitfied as cquity. it is not remeasured and settlement 15 accounted for within equity.
Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair valuc of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

On a transaction-by-transaction basis, the group elects to measure nen-controlling interests. which have beth
present ownership interests and are entitled to a4 proportionate share ot net assets of the acquiree in the event of
liquidation. either at its fair value or at its proportionate interest in the recognised amount ot the 1dentifiable net
assets of the acquiree at the acquisition date. All other non-controlling interests are measured at their fair value
at the acquisition date.

Property, plant and equipment

Property. plant and equipment i3 stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The cost includes costs directly attributable to making the asset capable of operating as intended.
Property. plant and equipment acquired through business combinations is initially recorded at tair value on
acquisition.

Depreciation is provided on all property. plant and equipment, other than frechold land. on a straight-line basis
at rates caleulated 1o write ofT the cost of each asset over the shorter of its leasing period or estimated usctul life
as follows:

Network assets. cable plant and cquipment

Netwurk assets - 3-30vears

Network assets includes construction in progress which is not depreciated and comprises of materials.
consumables and direct labour relating to network construction and 15 stated at the cost incurred in bringing
cach product 10 11s present location and condition. as follows:

Raw materials and consumables - Purchase cost
Work 1n progress - Cost of direct materials and labour

Other fixed assets:

Right-of-use property - Penod of lease

Freehold property. other than land - 30 vears

Leaschold improvements - 20 years or. if less. the term of the lease
Furmiture and fixtures - 3-12yuars

Computer cquipment - 3-3years

Moter vehicles - 5 vears

Labour costs relating to the design. construction and development of the network. capital projects. and related
services are capitalised and depreciated on 4 straight-line basis over the life of the relevant assets.

The carrying values of property. plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrving values may not be recoverable. The usctul lives and residual values arc
reviewed annually and where adiustments are required. these are made prespectively.

Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

[n accordance with TAS 36 Ympairment of Assers’. intangible assets with finite lives arc amortised on a straight-
line basis over their respective estimated usetul lives. and reviewed for indications of impairment at cach
reporting date.  [f any such indication exists. or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required. the
group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount s the higher of its
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determuned for ¢n individual asset. unless the asset does
not generate cash flows that are largely independent of these from other assets or groups of assets. Where the
carrving amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. the asset 15 considered impaired and is written
down to 1ts recoverable amount. In assessing value in use. the estimated future cash tlows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the ume value of
money and the risks specitic to the asset. Impairment losses of continuing eperations are recognised in the
Group Income Statement in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired assct.
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (continued)

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists. the recoverable amount
1s esumated. A previously recognised impairment loss 1s reversed. other than on goodwill. only if there has
been a change in the estimates used o determine the asset's recoverable amount sinee the last impairment loss
was recognised.

Provisions for liabilities and charges

A provision is recognised when the group has a present. legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
cvent for which it is probable that the group will be required to settle by an vutflow of resources and for which a
rcliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each balance shect
date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

When the effect of the time value of money is material provisions are discounted using a rate that reflecis the
risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used. the unwinding of the discount 1 expensed as incurred
and recognised in protit and loss as an interest expense.

Leases

On the lease commencement date. (i) a ROU asset is recognised representing the right to use an underlving
assct and (i1} lease liabilities representing the group’s obligation to make lease pavments over the lease term.
Lcase and nun-lease components in a contract are generally accounted for separately.

The group initially measures lease liabilities at the present value of the remaining lease payments over the lease
term. Options to extend or terminate the lease are included only when it is reasonably certain that the option
will be exercised. As most of the group’s leases do not provide enough information to determine an implient
interast rate. a portfolio level incremental borrowing rate is used in the present value calculaton. ROU assets
are initially measured at the value of the lease hability, plus any inttal direct costs and prepaid lease pavments,
less any lease incentives received.

RO assets are generally depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or the usctul life
of the asset. Interest expense on the lease liability is recorded using the effective interest method.

Lessor
When the group acts as a lessor. it determines at lease inception whether cach lease is a finance lease or an
vperating lease,

To classity each lease, the group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transters substantially all of
the risks and rewards incidental 1o ownership of the underlying asset. It this is the case. then the lease is a
finance lease; 1f not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment. the group censiders certain
indicators such as whether the lease is tor the major part of the economic life of the asset.

The group recogniscs leasce pavments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Interest bearing loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are imially recognised at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs.

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the ctfective interest method.

Gains and losscs arising on the repurchase. scttlement or otherwise cancellation of liubilitics are recognised
respectively in finance income and tinance cests.

Finance costs which are incurred in connection with the 1ssuance of debt are deferred and set oft against the
borrowings to which they relate. Deferred finance costs are amortised over the term of the related debt using the
effective interest method.



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
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2 Accounting policies (continued)

Interest bearing loans and borrowingys (continued)

Borrowings are classitied as creditors: amounts falbng due within one year unless the company has an
unconditional right to defer scitlement of the liability for at least 12 months atter the reporting period in which
case they are classified as creditors: amounts falling duc atter more than one year.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The group has established policies and procedures 10 govern the management of its exposure €0 interest rate and
foreign currency exchange rate risks through the use of derivanive tinancial instruments. including interest rate
SWaps, ¢ross currency interest rate swaps and toreign currency forward rate contracts.

Derivative tinancial instruments arc initially recognised at fair value on the datec on which a derivative contract
is cutered into and are subscquently remeasured at fair value at each balance sheet date.

Derivatives are recognised as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as habilities when the fair
value iy negative.

The foreign currency forward rate contracts. interest rate swaps and Cross-currency interest rate swaps arc
valued using internal models based on observable inputs, counterparty valuations or market ansactions in
either the listed or over-the counter markets. adjusted for non-performance risk. Non-performance risk 1s based
upon quoted credit default spreads tor counterparties to the contracts and swaps. Derivative contracts which are
subject to master netting arrangements are not oftset and have not provided. nor require. cash collateral with
any counterparty.

While these instruments are subject to the risk of loss from changes in exchange rates and interest rates, thesc
losses would gencrally be otfsct by gains in the related exposures. Financial instruments arc only used to hedge
underlying commercial exposures. The group does not enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative
trading purposes. nor does it enter into denvative financial instruments with a level of complexity or with a risk
that is greater than the exposure to be managed.

For derivatives which are designated as hedges the hedging relationship s documented at its incepuion. This
documentation identifies the hedging instrument. the hedged item or ransaction, the nature of the risk being
hedged and how effectivencss will be measurcd throughout its duration. Such hedges are expected at inception
to be highly cffective.

The greup designates certain derivatives as either fair value hedges. when hedging exposure to varability in the
fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments. or as cashflow hedges. when hedging
¢xposure to variability in cash tlows that are either attributable to a particulur nsk associated with a recognised
asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction.

Derivatives that are not part of an etfective hedging relationship. as set out in [FRS 9 Financial Instruments
(IFRS 9}. must be classified as held for trading and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The treatment of gains and losses arising trem revaluing derivatives designated as hedging instruments depends
upon the nature of the hedging relationship and are treated as follows:

Cash flow hedges

For cash tlow hedges. the effective portion ot the gain or loss on the hedging mstrument s recognised directly
in Other Comprehensive [ncome. while the neftective portion is recognised i the Group Income Statement.
Amounts taken to Other Comprehensive Income are reclassified to the Group Income Statement when the
hedged transaction is recognised in the Group Income Statement. such as when a forecast sale or purchase
oceurs. in the same fine of the Group Income Staterment as the recognised hedged 1tem. Where the hedged item
15 the cost of a non-linancial asset or labilitv. the gains and losses previously accumulated in equity are
wansferred to the initial measurement of the ¢ost of the non-financial asset or hability. 1 a forecast transaction
is no longer expected to oceur. the gan or Joss accumulated in equity 15 recognised immediately in the Group
Income Statement. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold. terminated or exercised without replacement or
rollover. or if its designation as a hedge is revoked. amounts previously recognised in Other Comprchensive
Income remain in equity until the forccast transaction occurs and are reclassitied to the Group Income
Sutement.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Fair value hedpes

For fair value hedges. the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are recognised in the Group
[ncome Statement immediately. together with any changes in the fair value ot the hedged asset or hability that
are attributable to the hedged risk. The change in the tar value of the hedging mstrument and the change in the
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognised in the line of the Group Income Statement relating to
the hedged item.

[t the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or it ats
designation as a hedge iy revoked. then the fair value adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item
arising from the hedged risk iz amortised to profit or loss from that date.

Inventories

Inventory consists of goods for resale and programing iny entories which are valued at the lower of cost or net
realisable value using the (rst-in. first-out (FIFQO) method. Cost represents the invoiced purchase cost of
inventory.  Net realisable value is based on judgements, using currently available information about obsolete,
slow moving or defective inventory. Based upon these judgements and estimates. which are applied consistently
from period to period. an adjustment is made to state the carrying amount of inventory held for resale at the
lower of cost and net realisable value.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently reported at amortised cost. net of an
allowance for impairment of rade receivables. The allowance for impairment of trade receivables is estimated
based upon our assessment of anticipated loss related to uncollectible accounts receivable. We use a number of
factors in determining the allowance, including. among other things, collection trends. prevailing and
anticipated economic conditions. and specific customer credit risk. The allowance is maintained until either
payment 1s received or the likelihvod of collection is considered o be remete. For additional information
regarding our trade recenvable and allowance tor impairment of trade receivables. see note 13,

Concentration of credit risk with respect o trade receivables s hmited due to the large number of residential
business customers. We also manage this risk by disconnecting services to customers whose accounts are
delinguent.

Cash and short term deposits

Cash and short-term deposits in the Group Balance Sheet comprise cash at banks and in hand and short-term
depaosits with an original maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the Group Cash Flow Statement,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short term deposits as detined above. net of outstanding bank
overdrafts.

Tax

Current income tax

Current tax asscts and liabilitics are measured at the amount expected o be recovered trom or paid o the
taxation authorities. based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date.

Current income tax relating to items recognised direetly i equity is recognised o equity and not in the income
statement. The directors pericdically cvaluate positions taken m the tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establish provisions where appropriate.
Income tax 1s charged or credited to Other Comprehensive Income if it relates to items that are charged or
credited o Other Comprehensive Income.

Deferred tux
Deterred tax is provided using the Tiability method on emporary differences between the tax bases ol assets and
habilities and their carrving amounts for tinancial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recogmised for all taxable temporary ditferences. exeept:
e When the deferred tax Lability arises trom the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or hability in a

transaction that is not a husiness combination and, at the time ot the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or luss.
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Accounting policies (continued})

Tax (continued)

e In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures. when the timing ot the reversal of the temporany differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foresceable future.

Deterred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carrv forward of unused tax
credits and any unuscd tax lesses. Deterred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 1s probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible remporary ditferences. and the cany torward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised. except:

e  When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises trom the initial
recognition of an asset or lability in a transaction that is not a business combination and. at the time ot the
transaction. affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

e [n respect ot deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries. associates and
interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it 1s probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrving amount of deferred tax assets 1s reviewed at cach reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is
no lenger probable that sufficient taxable protit will be available to allow all or part ot the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tux assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the
extent that 1t has become probable that future taxable protits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax asscts and liabilitics are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
asset 1s realised or the habilny is sctiled. based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been cnacted or
substantively enacted at the reporung date.

Deferred tax rclating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax
items arc recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction cither in Other Comprehensive Income or
directly In equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally entorceable right exists to set off current tax
assels against current income tax liabihities and the deterred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
tax authority.

Pensions

The group contributes to the Virgin Media sponsored group personal pensien plans for eligible employvees.
Contributions to these schemes are recognised in the Group Income Statement in the period in which they
become pavable. in accordance with the rules for cach of the plans.

The group operates two (2019 three) detined benefit pension plans, which require contributions to be made to
separately administered funds. The plans are closed t new entrants.

The regular cost of providing benetits under the defined benefit plans is attributed to individual years using the
prejected unit credit method. Variations in pension cost, which are identified as a resule of actuarial valuations.
are amortised over the average expected remaining working lives of employees in proportion to their expected
payroll costs. Past service costs are recognised in the inceme statement on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period or immediately if the benefits have vested.

When a scttlement {eliminating all obligations for benefits already accrued) or a curtailment {reducing future
obligations as a result ol'a material reduction in the scheme membership or a reduction in future entitlement)
veeurs. the obligation and related scheme assets are re-measured using the current actuarial assumptions and the
resultant gain or loss recognised i the Group Income Statement during the pentod in which the settlermnent or
curtailment veeurs.
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Pensions (continued)

The interest element of the defined benefit pension cost represents the change in present value of scheme
vbligations resulting from the passage of time and ts determined by applying the discount rate to the opening
present value ot the benefit obligation, taking into account material changes in the obligation during the year.
The expected retum on scheme assets is based on an assessment made at the beginning of the year of long term
market returns on scheme assets, adjusted for the etfect of fair value of the scheme asscts of contributions
received and benefits paid duning the year, The ditference between the expected return on scheme assets and
the interest cost is recognised in the Group Income Statement.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the Group Statement ot Comprehensive [nceme in the period
in which they occur.

The defined benetit pension asset or liability in the Group Balance Sheet comprises the total for cach scheme of
the present value of the detined benefit obhgation {using a discount rate based on high quality corporate bonds).
less any past service cost not yvet recognised and less the fair value of scheme assets out of which the obligations
are to be settled direetly. Fair value is based on market price information and, in the case of quoted securities.
is the published bid price.

Revenue recognition

Revenue 1s recogmsed to the extent that it s realised or reahsable and earned. Revenue is measured at the fair
value of the consideration received. excluding discounts, rebates and VAT. The following criteria must also be
met betore revenue is recognised:

e  persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists between the company and the company's customer:
e delivery has occurred or the service has been rendered:
e the price for the service is fixed or determinable; and

e recoverability is reasonably assured

Revenue carned from contracts to be recognised in line with performance obligations based on a five-step
mudel.

On inception of the contract we identify a “performance obligation™ for cach of the distinct goods or services
we have promised to provide to the customer. The consideration specified in the centract is allocated to each
performance obligation identified bascd on their relative standalone selling prices. and 1s recognised in revenue
as they are satistied. The tollowing table summarises the performance obligations we have identitied tor our
major revenue lines and provides information on the time of when thev are satisties and the related revenue
recognition policy.

Revenue line Performance obligation Revenue recognition policy

Service revenue — Cable | Provision of broadband intemet. video. and fixed- | Revenue for these types of services 1s

Networks line telephuny services over our cable network o | recognised evenly over the period ol the
[ customers. agreement as the services are provided.

Pertformance obligations are identified tor cach
distinet service for which the customer has
contracted and are considered to be satistied over
the tume period that these services are delivered.

i Inseallation and other When the group enters into contracts to provide These tees are generally deferred and
uptront fees services o customers. the group olten charges recognised as revenuc over the
installation or other upfront fees. contractual period. or longer if the
uptront lee results in a material renewal

The group 1> obliged to ensure it can supply
»Crvices to the customer premise as per the
customer contract. This includes cable plant and
cquipment installanon at the custemers premise.

right

[nstallation 1s not considered as a separate
performance vbligation.




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the vear ended 31 December 2020

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

B2B revenue Provision of data. voice and nerwork solution The group deter upfront instullation
services. including the sale and maintenance of and certain nonrecurring fees
cquipment to business customers. Installation charges | received on business-to-business
are charged in relation w the provision of services. vontracts where we maintain

vwnership of the installed
The group 1s obliged to provide the customer with the | equipment. The deterred fees are
connectivity senvices and or cquipment stipulated the | amortised mto revenue on a

customer contract. strarght-line basis. generally over

the longer of the term of the
Installatien is not considered as a separate arrangement or the expected period
pertormance obligation. ot pertormance.

From nme to time. we also enter
into agreements with certain B2B
customers pursuant to which they
are provided the right to use certain
clements of our network.

[t these agreementy are determined
to contain a lease that meets the
crteria o be considered a sales-
rype lease, we recognize revenue
lrom the lease component when

; contrel of the network element 13
transtuerred 1o the custonmer.

Mobile revenue — Provision of minutes. texts and data vver vur mobile The group recognise revenue [tom
Arrtime services network. mobile services in the period in
which the related sernvices are
provided. Revenue from pre-pay
customers is deferred prior to the

The group is obliged to provide the customer with a
SIM which is prov isioned with contracted allowances

cach month. N
commencement of services and
recognised as the services are
rendered or usage rights expire.

Mobule reveauc - Provision of mebile handset delivery w the customer. | Arrangement consideration
Handsets allocated 1o handsets 15 recogmised

The group 15 obliged o provide delivery of mobile

as revenue when the goods have
handsets as requested by the customer.

been delivered and ttle has passed.
For customers under a mobile

¢ handset instalment contract that is

. independent of a mobile airtime
SEM ICEs CONMTact, rey Cnue s
recognised upon delivery

There are no material obligations in respect of returns. retunds or warranties,

Consideration from mebile contracts 1s allocaled to the airtime service compoenent and the handset component
basced on the refative standalone selling prices of each component. When the group offer handsets and airtime
services In separate contracts entered inte at the same time. the group account tor these contracts as a single
contract.

Incremental revenues are generated based on usage for calls and video on demand. The entity has a right o
consideration from the customer at an amount that corresponds direetly with the value to the customer of the
citity's pertormance completed o date, therefore the entity recognises the revenuc to the extent to which 1t has
a right to invoice.

For subscriber promotions. such as discounted or tree services dunng an introductory period. revenue 1s
recognised uniformly over the contractual period if the contract has substantive termination penalties. If a
contract does not have substantive termination penalties. revenue 15 recognized only to the extent of the
discounted monthly fees charged to the subscriber. if any.

Certain upfront costs associated with contracts that have substanuive termination penalties and 4 term of one
vear or more are recognised as assets and amortised w operating costs and expenses over the apphicable period
benefited.
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Finance income
Finance income is recognised as interest acerues according to the effective interest method which uses the rate
that discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net
Carrying amount,

Share-hased payments

The company is an indirect. wholly-owned subsidiary of Virgin Media Inc. and Liberty Global ple. The
company has no share-based compensation plans. Emplovees of the group render services in exchange for
shares or nights over shares (equity-settled transactions) of Liberty Global ple common stock.

Share-hased payments (continued}

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees s measured by reference to the tair value at the date
which they are granted. The fair value of options and share appreciation rights are determined using the Black-
Scholes medel. The fair value of restricted share units is determined using cither the share price at the grant date
or the Monte Carlo model, depending on the conditions attached to the restricted share units being granted.
These transaction costs are recognised. together with a corresponding increase in either equity or ameunts owed
to parent undertakings. over the service period. or, if applicable. over the period in which any performance
conditions are fulfilled. which ends on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the
award {vesting date). The cumulative expense recognised for equity settied transactions at each reporting date,
until the vesting date. reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the number of awards that
arc estimated to ultimately vest. in the opinien of management at that date and bascd on the best available
information.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest. except for awards where vesting s conditional
upon & market vesting condition. which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market
condition is satisfied. provided that all other performance conditions arc satisfied.

3  Segment information

The principal activity of the group is to [acilitate the group's financing structure by implementing the group's
capital management policies, making and facilitating external borrowings and holding investments in subsidiary
companies. The company’s invesunents include substantially all of the Virgin Media group’s trading operating
companics.

The Virgin Media group’s reporting segments are based on its method of internal reporting to the Liberty
Global group and the information uscd by s chief executive officer, who is the chict operating decision maker
("CODM™, 1o evaluate segment performance and make capital allocation decisions.

It has been determined that the Virgm Media group comprises a single operating segment. This retlects how the
CODM reviews the results of the group's business based on revenue and profitability measures.

There is no material ditfercnce between the revenue presented to the CODM and the revenue of the Virgin
Media Finance PLC group. Revenue for the group was £4.790.3 million (2019 - £4.835.7 million) and was
entirely derived from the sale of goods and services.

Geographic Locations
The group’s revenue by geographic location is set out below:

Restated

2020 2019

£ million £ million

UK 4.730.5 4.7700.9
Ireland 398 6.8
Total © 47903 48357

treland represents revenue generated from the Irish television business.
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{a)

T'his 1s stated atter charging (credeting):

Restated
2020 2019
£ million £ million
Deprectation of property. plant and equipment (note 11} 953.0 9434
Depreciation of right of use assets (note 11) ) 351 40.0
Total depreciation 9881 9834
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 14) 174.5 193.1
Rent ot premises 20 29,8
Gain on digposal of property, plant and equipment (1.3)7 (3.3
Cost of inventories recognised within cost of sales 1929 208.0
Crain on sale of discontinued operations (note 22 (668.57)‘ -

Auditor’s remuneration

The group paid the following amounts 10 its auditor in respect of the audit of the tinancial statements and for
other services provided to the group.

Fees paid to the auditor for audit and other services to the company are not disclosed in i1s indiv idual accounts
as the group accounts are required to disclose such fees on a consolidated basis.

Fees pavable to the company’s auditor and their associates for other services represents tees pavable for
services in relation to other statutory tilings or engagements that are required 1o be carried out by the group's
auditor.

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Audit serviees:
Statutory audit services - audit of the parent company and group 0.3 0.3
tinancial statements
Fees pavable to the company's auditor and thelr associates tor other services:
Statutory audit services - statutory accounts of the company’s subsidiaries 0.2 0.2
0.7 0.7

Staff costs and directors’ emoluments

Staff costs
Included in wages and salaries 15 a total expense for sharc-based pavments of £33.7 milhon (2019 - £483
million). all of which arises from transactions accounted tor as equitv-settled share-based payment transactions.

Further information on compensaticn of key management personnel 15 disclosed 1n the related party
transactions (note 29).
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{e)

Staff costs and directors’ emoluments (continued)

{a) Staft costs (continued)

Wages and salaries

Social security costs

Pension costs - detined benehit scheme
Pension costs - defined contribution scheme
Total staft costs

Average staff numbers

The average monthly number of employees during the year was:

Consumer

Suppert. Technology and [nnovation
Business

Network Expansion

Mobile

Total average staff numbers

Directors” emoluments

There were no other transactions with directors during the vear.

Dircctors' remuneration
Amounts receivable under long term incentive plans
Total remuneraticn

Company contributions under defined contribution pension plans

Highest paid dircctor:
Remuneration (including awards recervable under fong term incentive plans)
Company contributions under defined contribution pension plans

Number ot directors aceruing benetits under defined contribution pension plans
Number of directors who exercised share options under schemes

operated by ultimate parent company

Number ol directors with shares received or receivable under long

term incentive plans
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Restated

2020 2019
£ million £ million
6113 5642
643 528
1.7 1.6
2935 26.1
T06.8 644.7
Restated

2020 2019
No. No.
6.494 5.856
3.031 3.942
1.358 2211
1.221 887
L 52
12,169 12,948
2020 2019
£ 000 £ 000
1.331 3,938
673 1,310
2.204 5,448
9 18
1.047 2148
9 9
1.056 2157
2026 2019
No. No.

1 3

4 3

4 3
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Other finance wcome and interest on amounts due from greup undertakings and related parties are recogmised

using the ctfective interest rate method in accordance with [FRS 9 “financial instruments”.

[nterest on amounts due from related parties

Galn on foreign exchange

(fain on fair value of tinancial instruments
Other finance income

[nterest op pension plans

Total finance income

8 Finance costs

[nterast payable 15 recognised using the effective interest rate method.

Restated
2020 2019
£ million £ million
2769 2838
170.7 2005

7.5 -
0.2 0.6
23 2.3
4576 4872

For the vear ended 31 December 2020, loss on extinguishment of debt was £138.2 mllion {2019 - £115.5
million) and related to the redemption premium paid and the write off of deferred financing costs as a result of
the redemption of the senior notes. senfor secured notes and senior credit facilities from refinancing activitics

during the vear (see note 17).

Interest payable on:

Senior credit tacility and vendor tinancing

Senior notes
Loss on derivative tinancial instruments
Loss on debt extinguishment
Loss on fair value ef financial instruments
[nterest payable on leases
Unwinding of discounts on provisions
Other interest and fees
Total finance costs

40

2020
£ million

243,
299
268,
139.

[FVRR. NV )

-

—
A

1.7

968.5

Restated
2019
£ million

~1
~

o 1
-
P2 L

[
= .
= A

188.
208
12.0

o
¥

Eltw —
ta| o i




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the vear ended 31 December 2020

9 Tax
fa} Tax expense on profit before tax
2020 2019
£ million £ million
Current tax:
UK taxes 1.0 0.¢
1.0 (0.4
Detorred tax.
Origination and reversal of temporary ditferences 7.2 9%.4
Maon ement m deferred ax asscts duc to change in tax rate (182.4) (3.9
Prior year adjustment 03 7.6
(1747 102.1
Total tax (benefit), expense in Group Income Statement (173.7) 103.0

(b} Reconciliation of the total tax (benefit)/expense in the Group Income Statement

The Group [ncome tax assessed for the year is lower than (2019 - lower than) the standard rate of corporation
tax in the UK of 19%, (2019 - 19%). The ditferences are explained below:

Restated
2020 2019
£ million £ million
{Lossyprofit before income tax (1894 6405
{Loss ) profit muluplied by the UK standard rate ot corporation {36.0) 121.7
tax of 19% (2019 - 19%%)
Expenses not deductible tor tax purposes 1.3 6.0
Group relief surrendercd/(claimed) without payment 433 (38.2)
Other (0.4) 9.2
Movement in deferred tax assets duc to change in tax rate (182.4) (3.9
Adjustment relating to prior years 05 8.2
Total tax (benefityexpense recognised in the Group Income Statement (173.7) 103.0
fc) Reconciliation of the total tax expense
2020 2019
£ million £ million
Tax recognised i the Group Income Statement (173.7) 103.0
Tax recognised in equity 0.9 o 1.0y
Total tax (benefityexpense (172.8) 102.0

41



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the vear ended 31 December 2020

9 Tax (continued)
(d) Recognised deferred tax

Recognised deterred tax assets at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 were as follows:

2020 2019
£ million £ million
UK deterred tax asscts:

Depreciation and amortisation 1.5301.6 1.370.1
Denvative instruments 376 1.2
Net operating losses 160.4 1574
Other 18.5 55
Total UK deferred tax assets L7141 1.5442

The group has determined it probable that m future 1t will gencrate sufficient pre-1ax profits to utihse
substantially all of its deferred tax assets.

In the 11 March 2020 Budget it was announced that the UK tax rate will remain at 19%% and not reduce to 17%
from | Aprl 2020. The 19% rate was substantively enacted in the Finance Bill 2020 on 17 March 2020. In the 3
March 2021 Budget. it was announced that the UK tax rate would ncrease tw 25% from 1 Apnl 2023,
substantively cnacted on 24 May 2021, This will increase the group's future current tax charge accordingly and
mcrease the deferred tax asset by approximately £525.0 million.

The deferred tax assets have been culculated using the enacted rate of 19% as at the current balance sheet date
(2019 — 17%).

fej Unrecognised deferred tax

Deferred tax assets in respect of the lollowing amounts have not been recognised as there 15 not currently

persuasive evidence that there wall be suntable taxable profits aganst which these timing ditferences walt
[CVeTse.

2020 2019

£ million £ millien

Net operating losses 192.3 479.0
Capatal losses 12.104.7 12.104.6
Other timing differences 177.3 314.0
12,4745 12.897.6
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9 Tax (continued)

(f) Movement in deferred tax balances
Movements in deterred tax during the vear:

1 January

Recognised in

Recognised in

31 December

2020 income equity 2020

£ million £ million £ million £ millien

Depreciation and amortisation 1.370.1 131.5 - 1,501.6
Derivative instruments 1.2 264 - 376
Nert operating losses 157.4 3.0 - 160.4
(ther 5.6 13.8 (0.9} 18.5
1.544.3 1747 (0.9) 1,718.1

Movements i deferred tax during the prior year:

1 January Recognised in Recognised in 31 December

2019 income equity 2019

£ million £ million £ million £ million
Depreciation and amortisation 1.499.9 {129.8) - 1.370.1
Denvative instruments (6.7) 17.9 - 1.2
Net operating losses 139.0 18.4 - 15374
Other 131 (8.3) 1.0 36
16453 (102.0) 1.0 15443
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(a) Summary of intangible assety

Goodwill IT Software Other Total

£ million £ million £ million £ million
Cost
At 1 January 2016 2.303.8 6458 21.7 2971.3
[mpairment - 0.4 - (0.4
Additions - 89.2 - 892
Disposals - (75.1) - (75.1)
Effect of movement in exchange rates (12.6) - - (12.6)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 22912 6595 17 29724
Additions - 124.5 - 1245
Disposals - (119.5) - {119.5)
On disposal of subsidiary to related party {163.6) - - (163.6)
Effect of movement in exchange rates 1LY - - 11y
At 31 December 2020 21375 6645 217 28237
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2019 135.0 256.2 15.9 4141
Amortisation charge - 1920 1.1 193.1
Disposals - (75.1) - (75.1)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 1380 371 170 528.1
Amortisation charge - 1737 0.8 174.5
Disposals - (118.2) - {118.2)
At 31 December 2020 3850 4286 7% 584.4
Net book value
At 31 December 2020 1.999.5 2359 39 22393
At 31 December 2019 21532 2864 4.7 2443
At | January 2019 2.1638 389.6 58 2.561.2

The amortisation charge has been recognised through adminisirative expenses in the Group [ncome Statement,
(b) Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indetinite useful lives are not amertised. but instead are tested for
impairment at least annually. Goodwill is allocated to reporting units. the assets of which are separately
operated and monitored.

The group evaluates the recoverable amount of the group’s Teporting units, using a fair value less costs to sell
methed. The group’s estimate of the recoverable amount 1s based primarily of observable EBITDA multiples
tor recent transactions and publiclv—traded peer companies. which are Level 2 inputs in the fair value hierarchy.
The group’s 2020 goodwill impairment assessment determined that fair value exceeded the carrving value of
both of the group’s reporting units and as a result con¢luded that no impairment w goodwitl was required.
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11 Property, plant and equipment

Network
assets Other Total
£ million £ million £ million
Cost
At | January 2019 14.431.7 1.439.5 15.871.2
Lease opening balance adjustment 10.5 136.6 147.1
Additions 10054 1878 1.193.2
Effect of movement tn exchange rates {(13.5) (3.6) (491
Disposals (799.1) {43.5) {342.6}
At 3] December 2019 and | Tannary 2020 46050 17148 16.319.8
Opening balance adjustment 1.9 (2.6) {0.7)
Additions 870.6 141.3 10119
Effect of movement in exchange rates 423 6.4 48.7
Disposals {603.9) {157.0) {760.9)
On disposal of subsidiary to related party (821.5) (974} (918.9)
At 31 December 2020 14.094.4 1.605.5 15,6999
Depreciation
At 1 January 2019 9.454.2 933.9 104481
Provided during the vear 890.0 156.7 1.046.7
[mpairment release (4247 - {424.7)
Effect of movement in exchange rates {23.1) (2.7) (25.8)
Disposals (779.3) {43.2) (822.5)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 o917 1.104.7 10.221.8
Provided during the vear 932.0 116.6 1.048.6
Cffect of movement in exchange rates 234 43 277
Disposals {599 K) (96.5) {696.3)
On disposal of subsidiary to related party (432.1) (96 ¥} (348.9)
AU31 December 2020 C 90206 10323 10,052.9
Net book value
At 31 December 2020 5.073.8 5732 5.647.0
At 31 December 2019 34879 614.1 6.098.0
At 1 Janvary 2019 4.977.5 +15.6 54231
The group did not capitalise any borrowings costs during the year.
Included in "Other’ are the tollowing net book values:
2020 2019
£ million £ million
Frechold land and buildings 33, 344
Leasehold land and buildings 284 291
Leasehold improvements 498 59.6
1113 123.1

The remainmg assets included in Other™ consist of furniture and fixtures. computer equipment and motor

v chicles.

I
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12 Financial assets

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Non-current
Restricted cash 397 220
Deferred financing costs 14.4 16.2
Dernative instruments (sce note 21) 279.7 4309
Amounts owed by related parties 5.900.2 19538
6.234.0 54229
Current
Dermnvative mstruments (see note 21} 66.6 824
Restricted cash ol 0.t
Amounts owed by related parties 685.8 -
C 7525 825

Amounts owed by related parties are primarily in respect of loan notes receivable from Liberty Global BEurope 2
Limited, and Newco Holdeo 5 Limited. both wholly owned subsidraries of Liberty Global ple that sit outside of
the Virgin Media group.

i} Notcs reccivable trom Liberty Global Europe 2 Limited, which have an aggregate principal balance of
£4.798.7 million (2009: £4926 4 million). These comprise of principal amount outstanding of £683.8
million (2019: £nil) at a rate of 2.560% repayable in December 2021 and £4.758.1 multion {2019: £4.926.4
mitlion) at a rate of 4.741% {subject to adjusiment) repayable in July 2023, As at 31 December 2019
£1.501.5 mudlion was outstanding which incurred interest ar a rate of 8 5%, This was repaid in May 2020.

1i) Notes vecervable tfrom Newco Holdeo 5 Limited. which have a principal amount outstanding of £1.098.2
million (2019 £nil} at a rate of 3.74% e repayable in May 2027

13 Trade and other receivables

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Non-current
Prepayments and accrued income RS 36.3
Current
Trade receivables 3809 4254
Amounts owed by parent and group undertakings 243 16
Amounts owed by related parues 111 353
Prepavments and accrued income ~ 187.0 1846
6033 650.9

Prepavments and accrued income classified as nen-current include long term telecommunicatons contract
assets with erms in excess of one vear.

Current amounts owed by both parent. group undertakings and related parties are unsecured and repayable on
demand.

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. are generally on 30-90 day terms and are stated net of provision for
non-recoverabilitv.  The group's trade and othier receivables have been reviewed tor indicators of impairment
and 0 was concluded that a provision for non-recoverability of £19.7 million (2019 - £19.5 million) was
required. The carrying value of trade receivables s considered o be a fair approximation of fair value.
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13

14

Trade and other receivables (continued)

The aliowance for doubtiul accounts is based upon the group’s assessment of probable loss related to
uncollectible trade receivables. The group uses a number of factors in determining the allowance. including,
among other things, cellection trends. prevailing and anticipated cconomic conditiens and specific customer
credit risk, The allowance is maintained until cither receipt of payment or the likeliheod of cellection is
considered w be remote.

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables were as follows:

£ million
At 1 Janunary 7019 19.6
Chargc tor the vear 232
Utilised (23.3)
At 31 December 2019 and | January 2020 19.5
Charge for the year 220
Utilised (21.9})
At 3| December 2020 19.7
The ageing analvsis of trade receivables is as tollows:
Neither
past due nor Balances past due
Total impaired <30 dayvs 30-60days 60- 90 days >9( days
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
31 December 2020 380.9 6.6 1.4 134 10.& 267
31 December 2019 1294 324.6 346 244 6.8 39.0
Inventories
2020 2019
£ million £ million
Goods for resale 235 309
Programming inventory 9.9 23.7
Total [nventory 434 34.6

Inventories are stated after provisions for impairment ol £4.8 million (2019 - £6.7 millien}

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank eams interest at tloating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for
varying periods of between one duy and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
aroup, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents
including overdrawn cash book balances at 31 December 2020 was £19.3 million (2019 - £33.9 millien).

2020 2019

£ million £ million

Cash at bank and in hand 19.2 339
Short-term depoesits 0.1 -

19.3 339
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16 Trade and other pavables

2020 2019
£ million £ million

Non-current
Orther long term pavables 21.5 26.3
2620 2019
£ million £ million

Current

Trade pavables 3393 3543
VAT, payroll taxcs and social sccurity costs 152.2 161.0
Interest payable 138.8 1332
Amounts owed to parent and group undertakings 77.5 52.2
Amounts owed to rclated party 172.9 189
Accruals and deferred income 8089 8423
16896 1.591.9

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and generally repayable on terms of up to 60 days. Trade payables.
intcrest pavable and amounts owed to group undertakings are financial liabilities which arc cxcluded from note

17.
Amounts owed to group undertakings and e related parties are unsecured and repavable on demand.

Other long term pavables consist of property and restructuring costs provisions.

17 Financial liabilities

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Current

Lease Liabilities {(see note 18) 31.9 33.5
Current instalments due on other debt 6.6 101.5
Derivative instruments (see note 21) 148.2 133.6
Vendor financing 1.966.2 1.762.7
2.1529 2.031.3

Non-current
Lease habilitics (sec note [8) 172.2 188.0
Non-current instalments due on senior credit facility 3.967.6 39984
Senior notes [.119.5 1.187.3
Senior secured notes 4.381.2 44719
Non-current instalments due on other debt 286.3 142.7
Derivative instruments { see note 21) 607.7 4028
Vendor tinancing 89.0 724
10.623.5 10.463.5
Toral financial liabilities 12.776.4 12.494.8
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17 Financial liabilities (continued)

Borrowings at 31 December were repavable as follows:

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Amounts falling due:

Within one vear 1.966.4 1.804.4
In more than one vear but not morce than five vears 3731 0.2
In more than tive years 9.520.1 9.637.6
COIL8S96 117822
Less: issue costs (43.2) (45.3)
Total borrowings 11.816.4 [1.736.9
96000 7579

Financial liabilities not classed as borrowings )
12,7764 12,494.8

Total financial liabilitics

Financial liabilitics not classed as borrowings include amounts pavable to parent and group undenakings,
obligations under leases, interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps.

Loans repayable in more than tive years are as tollows:

2020 2019

Loans repayable after 5 vears: £ miilion £ million
Scenlor notes 11271 1.057.2
Senior securcd notes 4.400.1 3.490.8
Senior credit facilities 39816 40146
Other debt 1.3 73.0
93201 9.637.6

Vendor financing
The group enters into vendor financing arrangements to finance certain property and equipment additions and
operating costs. The amounts owed pursuant to these arrangements arc interest bearing and include VAT which
was paid on the group’s behalf by the vendor. Repayments of vendor financing obligations are included in the
repavment of borrowings in the Group Cash Flow Statement. The weighted average cost of vendor financing
debt 15 4.33% and is substantially duc within 1 year.

Senjor notes

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Seniowr notes consist of:
.S, Dollar
5.25%, senior notes due 2022 (principal at maturity $32 million) - 388
+.873% sentor notes due 2022 (principal at maturity $72 million) - 34.0
6.00%, sentor notes due 2024 (principal at maturity $4%7 million} - 3737
3.73%% senior notes due 2025 {principal at maturny $389 million) - 2931
5.0%5 semior notes due 2030 (principal at matunty $9235 million) 6793 -
6793 7606
Sterling
3.125% scmior notes due 2022 (primcipal at matunty £44 million) - 441
— T
Euro
4.5%, senior notes due 2025 (principal at maturity €460 million} - 3894
3.73% sentor notes due 2030 (principal at maturity €300 mullion) HIR -
IR IR9.4
Less: 1ssuc costs {(7.6) (6.8)
IYICE 1.187.3

Total semor notcs
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17 Financial liabilities (continued)

In June 2020, Virgin Media Finance PLC 1ssued 20340 senier notes with principal amounts ol $675.0 million.
The net proceeds. together with the May 2020 proceeds were used to redeem i full €460.0 million and $3%9.0
million outstanding principal amount of 2023 senior notes.

Virgin Media Finance PLC issucd an additional 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $230.0 million and
€500.0 million. The nct proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used {1) to redeem in full 54497 miilion
outstanding principal amounts of existing 2024 senior notes and $123.1 million and £44.1 million outstanding
principal amounts of existing 2022 senior notes and (2} for general corporate purposes.

The new secured notes rank part-passu with the group’s existing secured notes and subject to certain exceptions,
share in the samec guarantees and security granted m favour of its existing secured notes.

Senior secured notes

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Senior secured notes consist of:
U.S. Dollar
5.5% senmior notes due 2026 (principal at maturity S750 muilion) 3492 3656
3.5% senior notes due 2029 (principal at maturity S1.425 million) 1.030.4 1.081.9
+4.5% senior notes due 2030 (principal at matunty 3915 million) 674.1 -
22737 1.647.5
Sterling
6.00%, seniar sccured netes due 2025 (principal at maturity £321 million) - 540.1
5.00% senior secured notes due 2027 (principal at maturity £675 million) 6750 675.0
1.873% senior secured notes due 2027 {principal at maturity £5235 million) - 325.0
6.25% semor secured notes due 2029 (principal at maturity £360 million) - 362.0
5.25%, senjor secured notes due 2029 (principal at maturity £340 million) 3411 3412
4.25%, senior secured notes due 2030 (principal at maturity £400 million) - 400.0
+.23%, senior secured notes due 2030 (principal at maturity £635 million) 631.0 -
4.123%, senior secured notes due 2030 (principal at maturity £480 million) 479.3 -
21264 28433
Less: issue costs (18.9) {18.9)
Total senior secured notes 4.381.2 44719

In June 2020, Virgin Media Secured Finance PLC issued 2030 senior secured notes with principal amounts of
$630 million and £450 million. The net proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used (1) to redeem i
full £525 million outstanding principal amounts ot existing 2027 senior secured notes. (2) to redeem in full
£360 million outstanding principal amounts of existing 2029 senior secured notes and {3) to redeem £80 millien
of the £321 million vutstanding principal amount of existing 2025 serior secured noetes.

In November 2020, Virgin Media Sccured Finance PLC issued. via a private placement 2030 senior secured
notes with principal amounts of $263 million. £235 milhon and £30 million. The net proceeds from the issuance
of these notes were used (1) redeem in full £441 million outstanding principal amounts of existing 2025 senior
secured notes and (2) for general corporate purposes.
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17 Financial liabilities (continued)

Senior credit facility

2020 2019
The non-current instalments duc on the senior credit facility consists of! £ million £ million
L.5. Dollar
VM Facility K
LIBOR + 2.30% scnior credit facility due 2026 (principal at maturity $3.400.0 - 24821
million)
VM Facility N
LIBOR - 2.50%; senicr credit facility due 2028 (principal at maturity $3.300.0 24121 -
miltion)
Euro
VM Facility O
EURIBOR + 2.50%, senior credit facility due 2029 (principal at 670.3 6334
maturity €750.0 million}
Steriing
VM Facility L
LIBOR~ 3.25% senior credit facility due 2027 (principal at maturity £400.0 J00.0 400.0
million}
VM Facility M
LIBOR~ 3.25% senior credit facility due 2027 (principal at matunty £300.0 499.2 4991
million}
3981 6 10146
Less: 1ssue costs {14.0) (16.2)
Senior credit facility due atter more than one vear 3.967.6 3,998.4
Total senior credit facility TUU3967.6 3.9984

The Semor Credit Facility requires that certain members of the Virgin Media Group that generate not less than
80% of such group’s EBITDA {as defined in the Senior Credit Facility) in any financial year. guarantee the
payment of all sums payable under the Senior Credit Facility and such group members are required to grant
first-ranking security over all or substantially all of their assets to secure the payment of all sums payable. In
addition, the holding company of cach borrower must give a share pledge over its shares in such borrower.

Al 31 December 2020. the senior secured credit tacilities of the group meluded two multi currency revolving
credit tacilities ("Revolving Facility™) Revolving Facility A is a multi currency revolving facility mawring on
31 December 2021 with 4 maximum borrowing capacity equivalent to £30.0 muillion. and Revolving Facility B
is & multi currency revolving facility maturing on 15 January 2024 with a4 maximum borrowing capacity
equivalent to £950.0 million.

In addition to mandatory prepavments which must be made for certain disposal proceeds {subject to certain de
minimis thresholds), the lenders may cancel their commitments and declare the loans due and pavable afier 30
busincss davs fellowing the eccurrence ot a change of contrel in respect of Virgin Media Investment Holdings
Lunited (2 wholly owned subsidiary of Virgin Media Finance PLO). subject to certam exceptions.
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17 Financial liabilities (continued)

18

The Senior Credit Facility contains certain customary events of default. the occurrence of which. subject to
certain exceptions and materiality qualifications. would allow the lenders to {1} cancel the total commitments,
(1} accelerate all outstanding loans and terminate their commitments there under and or (111} declare that all or
part ot the loans be pavable on demand. The Senior Credit Facility containg certain representations and
wartanties customary for facilities of this tvpe. which are subject w exceptions. baskets and materiality
qualifications.

The Senior Credit Facility restricts the ability ot certain members of the Virgin Madia Group to, among other
things, (1) incur or guarantee certain financial mdebtedness, (i) make certain disposals and acquisitions and (1i1)
create certamn secunty interests over thetr assets. in each case. subject to carve-outs trom such hmitations.

The Senior Credit Facility requires the borrowers to observe certain affirmative undertakings or covenants,
which covenants are subject o materiality and other customary and agreed cxceptions. In addition. the Senior
Credit Facility also requires compliance with various financial covenants such as Senior Net Debt to Annualised
EBITDA and Total Net Debt to Annualised EBITDA. cach capitalised term as defined in the Senior Credit
Faciliy.

[n addition to customary default provisions. the Senior Credit Facility provides that any event of default with
respect to indebtedness of £50.0 mullion or more in the aggregate of the company. and its subsidianes is an
event of detault under the Senior Credit Facility.

The Senior Credit Facility permits certain members of the Virgin Media Group to make certain distrtbutions
and restricted payments to its parent company {and indirectly to Liberty Globaly through loans. advances or
dividends subject to compliance with applicable covenants.

Restrictions
The agreements governing the senior notes. senior secured notes and the senior credit facility signiticantly. and.
in some cases, absolutely restrict the group's ability and the ability of most of its subsidiaries Lo:

* ncur or guarantee additienal indebtedness:

s payv dividends or make other distributions. or redeem or repurchase equity interests or subordinated
obligations:

e make investments:
sell assets. including shares in subsidiaries:
create licns:

*  enter into agreements that restrict the restricted subsidiaries' ability to pav dividends. transter assets or
make intercompany lvans:

«  merge or consolidate or transter substantially all of the group's assets: and

e cnter inte transactions with af(iliates.

Leases

General
The group enters into leases for network cquipment. real estate and vehieles

ROU assets
Right-of-use asseis related to leased properties that do not meet the definition of investment property are
presented as property. plant and equipment.

N
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18 Leases (continued)

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Land and Build - 11.4
Network 104 8.2
(her 168.1 181.5
178.5 201.1
Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2020 financial year were £29.0 million (2019 - £47.0 million).
Amounts recognised in profit
The income statement shows the follow ing amounts related to leases:
2020 2019
£ million £ million
Depreciation charge of right-ot-usc asscts:
Land and Build - 1.5
Network 21 34
Other 351 37.1
372 420
Interest expensc 10.2 10.%
Short-term lease expense ] - -
474 528
The total cash outtlow tor leases in 2020 was £43.0 million (2019 - £48.0 matlion).
Lease linbilities
Maturities of our lease liabilities as of December 31. 2020 are presented below:
2020 2019
£ million £ million
Less than one year 411 46.3
One to five years 108.2 131.7
More than five vears 191.5 197.6
Total undiscounted lease habilitnes 3408 3756
Impact of finance expenses (136.7) (154.1}
Lease hability included in the statement of financiual position 204.1 2213
Current 3Y 335
Non current 172.2 188.0
2041 221.5
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Provisions
Property
related Other
costs provisions Total
£ million £ million £ million
At 31 December 2019 and | January 2020
Current 14 22 36
Non-current 1221 24 1249
1235 3.1 125.6
Established during the year 4.0 138 17.8
Used dunng the year (3.7 t13.3) {17.(h
Revisions in cashtlow estimates .6 - 0.6
Muovement in discount rate (36.3) - (36.3)
On disposal of subsidiary to related party I ) 2.9
At 31 December 2020 652 5. 708
Analysed as:
Current 1.6 1.1 27
Non-current _ 63.6 4.5 68.1
632 56 70.8

Property related costs
Propertv related costs expected 1o be incurred are mainly in relation to dilapidauoens costs on lcasehold
propertics. The majority of the costs are expected to be incurred over the next 25 vears.

Other provisions
Other provision elements mainly consist of Natienal [nsurance contributions on share options and restricted
stock unit grants and redundancy costs resulting from restructuring programmes.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The group's principal financial habilities. other than derivatises, comprise bank loans (senior credit facility).
senior notes. serior secured notes. finance leases, vendor financing. trade payables. hire purchase contracts and
lvans made to parent, fellow group undertakings and related partics. With the exception of trade payables the
main purposc of the financial liabilities is to raise finance for the Virgin Media group's operations. The group
has various financral assets such as trade receivables and cash and short term deposits. which arise directly from
its operations.

The group is exposed to various market risks. including credir risk. foreign exchange rate risk. liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. Market risk is the potennal loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices. As
some of the group's indebtedness accrues interest at variable rates there 1 exposure to volatlity m future cash
flows and camings associated with variable interest payments.

Interest and principal obligations en some indebtedness are m U S, dollars and euros. As a result the group has
exposure Lo volatility in future cash flows and carmings associated with changes in foreign exchange rates on
payvments of interest and principal amounts en a portion of its indebtedness.

The group has entered into various dervative instruments to manage interest rate risk. and foreign exchange
risk with respect to the U.S. dollar and euro. comprising of interest rale swaps. Cross-cUrmency Interest rate
swaps and foreign currency torward contracts. The objective is to reduce the solutility of the group's cash flows
and earnings caused by changes m underlying rates.

The mam nisks arising from the group’s financial liabilities are described below:

Interest rate visk

The group is subject 1o interest rate risk because it has substanual indebtedness at variable rates of interest. At
31 December 2020. before aking into account hedging imstruments. interest is determined on a varable basis
on £3.981.6 million {2019 - £4.014.6 million) or 34%, (2019 - 32%) of indebiedness. relating solely to amounts
drawn down on the senior credit factlittes. The group aims to reduce the volatility of its cash flows and carnings
as a result of fluctuations in interest rates through the use of derivative financial wstruments.
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Interest rate visk profile of financial assets
The group’s financial assets include cash on money market deposit at call. seven day and monthly rates. and
amounts owed by parent undertakings and related parties charged at variable interest rates.

Sensitivitv analvsis of changes bn interest rates

Interest rate risks are presented by way of a sensilivity analysis in accordance with IFRS 7 'Financlal
Instruments: Disclosures’. These show the eftects of changes o market interest rates on interest payments.
interest income and expense, other components and. as appropriate. equity. The interest rale senstiivity analyses
arc based on the tollowing assumptions:

e Changes in market interest rates ot non-dertvative financial instruments with fixed interest rates only
affect income it measured at fair value. As such. all financial instruments with tixed interest rates that
are carried at amortised cost are not subject 1o interest rate risk as defined by [FRS 7.

¢ Changes in market interest rates atfect the interest income or expense of non-derivative variable-
interest financial instruments. the interest payments of which are not designated as hedged items of
cash flow hedges against interest rate risks. As a consequence. they are included in the caleulation of
Interest rate sCnsItivities.

e« Changes in the market interest rate of interest rate derivatives {interest rate swaps and cross-currency
interest rate swaps) that are not part of a hedging relationship as sct out in [FRS 9 Financial
Instruments ” affect gains or losses on dernvatives and are therefore taken into consideration in the
calculation of interest rate sensitivitres.

+  Foreign currency torward rate contracts are not subject to interest rate risks and therefore do not affect
interest rate sensitivities.

Based on debt at 31 December 2020, mcluding amounts owed to and due from parent and group undertakings.
and taking into consideration hedging instruments. a 0.25% movement in market interest rates would result in
an annual increase or decrease in the gross interest income/expense of £11.9 million (2019 - a (1.23%% movement
in market interest rates would result in an annual increase or decrease in the gross interest income expense of
£8.6 million). Movements in gross interest expense would be recognised in {inance income and finance costs in
the Group Income Statement.

Forergn currency exchange rate risk

The group is also subject te foreign currency cxchange risks because interest and principal obligations with
respect to a portion of its indebtedness 15 denominated in U.S. dollars and curos. To the extent that the pound
declines tn value aganst the U.S. dollar and the euro. the effective cost of servicing U.S. dollar and curo
denominated debt will be higher. Changes in the exchange rate result in foreign currency gains or losses.

As of 31 December 2020 the group had £5.365.1 million (2019 - £4.890.3 mullion). or 457 {2019 41%%) of
cxternal indebtedness, denominated in U.S. dollars and €£1.118.1 million {2019 - £1.022.9 million), or 9% (2019
— 9%) of external indebtedness, denominated i eures {see note 17). The group has a programme in place to
mitigate the risk ol losses ansing from adverse changes in foreign currency cxchange rates which uses a number
of derivative financial instruments. When taking into consideration cross currency interest rate swaps and
foreign currency torward rate contracts, the magority of external debt is hedged against foreign curreney
exchange rate risk.

For the year ended 31 December 2020 the group had toreign curreney gains of £170.7 million (2019 - gains of
£200.7 mullion).

The gains for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 were primarily due to the strengthening of pound
sterling relative 1o the U.S. dollar in respect of the U.S. dollar denominated debt issued by the group. partiaily
uifset by the weakeming of pound sterling relative to the curo in respect ot curo denominated debt.

L
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Sensttivity analvsis of changes in foreign currency exchange rates

For the presentation of market risks. [FRS 7. ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ requires sensitivity analysis
that shows the effects of hypothetical changes of foreign currency exchange rates of relevant risk variables on
profit or loss and sharcholders' equity. The periedic eftects are determined by relating the hypothetical changes
in risk variables 1o the balance of financial instruments at the reporting date. It is assumed that the balance at the
reporting date 15 representative of the year as a whole.

Currency risks are defined by IFRS 7 as arising on account of financial instruments being denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency and being of a monetary nature. Relevant nsk variables are
generally all non-functional currencies in which the group has financial {labilities. excluding amounts due to
parcnt undertakings.

The currency sensitivity analysis is based on the tollowing assumptions:

Major non-derivative monetarv financial instruments (Jiquid asscts. receivables and finance lease liabilities) arc
directly denominated in the functional currency. There are therefore no foreign exchange fluctuations m respect
of these instruments which have an effect on protit or loss or shareholders' equity. Interest income and expense
from financial instruments are aiso either recorded in the tunctional currency or transferred to the functional
currency using derivatiyves.

The group has a number of derivative instruments with vanous counterparties to manage It$ exposure to
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Exchange rate fluctuations. on which the financial instraments are
based. affect gams or losses on derivatives in the finance income or finance costs lines. respectively. of the
Ciroup Income Statement.

The following table demonstrates the scositivity 1o a rcasonably possible ¢hange in the pound sterling against
L.S. dollar and curo exchange rates with afl other vanables remaining constant. of the group’s profit betore tax.
Duc 10 Yoreign exchange translation of monetary assets and labilities. the impact of translating the net assets of
toreign operations into sterling is excluded trom the sensitivity analysis:

Increase/ Effect on
decrease in profit/(loss)
exchange before tax
rates £ million
2020
Sterling U.S. dollar -20°%, 436.6
Sterling U.S. dollar =200, {2.028.6)
Sterling euro =207, 3598
Sterling curo -20%, (234
2019
Sterling U.S. dollar =200, 821.3
Sterling U.S. dollar =200, (1.232.00
Sterling euro =200, 266.2
Sterling euro -200, {116.3)

Liquidiny risk and capital management

The ¢ompany is a wholly owned subsidiary and its ultimate parent company is Liberty Global ple. Capital
management policies are operated at a Virgin Media group lesel by the management of Liberty Global ple. The
agreements that gesern the Virgim Media group's indebtedness set vut financial maintenance tests and restricune
covenants. and it 1s the pohicy of the Virgim Media group to maintain adequate headroom against these tests and
covenants.

N
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20 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued)

The group’s business is capital intensive and the group i highly leveraged. The group has significant cash
requirements for operating costs, capital expenditure and interest expense. The level of the group's capital and
operating expenditures are aftected by significant amounts of capital required to connect customers tw the
network. expand and upgrade the network and offer new services. Cash on hand, together with cash from
operations and an undrawn credit facility. are expected to be sufficient tor the group’s cash requirements
through to 12 menths from the date of this report. The group has significant scheduled repayments that may
need to be financed through means other than reliance on cash flow from operations. such as raising additional
debt or equity. refinancing the existing facility. possible loans from parent undertakings or related parties. sale
of assets or other means. [t may not be possible to obtain adequate financing. or sell assets at all. or on
favourable terms, or the terms of the senior credit facility or senior notes may prevent the group from incurring
additional indebtedness or selling assets.

As of 31 December 2020 the greup had £12.020.5 million of external debt (including finance leases. vendor
financing and net of deferred finance costs) cutstanding. compared to £11.938.4 million as ot 31 December
2019 and cash and cash equivalents of £19.3 million compared to £33.9 million at 31 December 2019,

The principal amount outstanding under the senior credit facility at 31 December 2020 was £3.9%1.6 million
(2019 - £4.014.6 millien). The senior credit tacility comprises two term facilitics denominated in peunds
sterling of £400.0 million and £499.0 million respectively (2019 £400.0 million and £499.0 million), one term
facility denominated in U.S. dollar of £2.412.1 million {2019 - £2.482.0 million). one term tacility denominated
in curo ot £670.3 million (2019 - £633.4 million} and one revelving facility of £1.000.0 millien {2019 -
£1.000.0 mdlion). At 31 December 2020, £3.981.6 million (2019 - £4.014.6 million} of the term facilities net ot
1ssue ¢costs had been drawn. The group had £673.0 million available of its revolving credit tacilities for bank
wuarantees and standby letters of credit.

The group does not have any scheduled principal pavments on its senior notes and senior credit facility untii
2027 However, if the group was unable Lo meet repayment conditions or service these obligations through cash
flows from operations, then it would need w sceure additional tunding such as raising additional debt or equity,
refinancing the existing tacility. selling assets or using other means. 1t may not be possible to obtain financing
or sell assets. ar all or en favourable terms. or the group mayv be contractually prevented by the terms of its
senior notes or semor credit facility from incurring additional indebtedness or selling assets.

A maturity analvsis of financial liabilitics, outstanding at 31 December, showing the remaining contractual
undiscounted amounts pavable. including interest commitments, is shown below:

Less Greater than
than 1 year 1to 5 years 5 years Total
2020 £ million £ million £ million £ million
Semor credit tacility. senior notes and senior
sceured notes 487.0 20968 10.898.2 13.482.0
Vendor financing 2.026.1 979 6.3 2.130.35
Finance lease and hire purchase contracts 41.1 1081 191.4 340.6
Derivative contracts 34.6 +10.7 280h6 7559
2019
Sentor credit facility. senior notes and senior
seeured notes 5453 3.160.3 99397 13,6653
Vendoer tinancing 1.871.7 81.1 - 1.952.8
Finance lease and hire purchase contracts 8.6 282 134.6 1714
Derivative contracts 658 198.6 272.0 3364

h
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20 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies {continued)

21

The above amounts exclude other tinancial liabilitics. such as trade pavables. which are all repavable in less
than one vear. Amounts owed to parent and group undertakings have also heen excluded as they are repavable
on demand,

Credit risk

Credit risk is the nisk that one party to a tinancial imstrument will cause a tinancial loss tor the other party by
tailing to discharge an obligation. The group's financlal instruments that are exposed to concentrations of eredit
risk consist primarnily of cash. trade receivables and derivative contracts.

At 31 December 2020, the group had £19.3 miilion (2019 - £33.9 million) in cash and cash equivalents. These
cash and cash equivalents are on deposit with a number of major tinancial institutions and. as part of the group's
cash management process, regular evaluations of the credit standing ot these institutions arc performed using a
range of metrics. The group has not experienced any losses in cash balances and management do not believe it
15 exposed to any significant credit tisk on its cash balances.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect o trade receivables are limited because ot the large number of
customers and their distribution across a wide geographic area. The group performs credit evaluations of its
business customers’ financial condition and generally does not require collateral. No single group or customer
represents greater than 1096 of total accounts reecivable.,

Concentrations of credit risk with respeet to dervarive contracts are focused within a limired number of
international financial institutions with which the group transacts and relate only to denvatives with recorded
asset balances. The Liberty Global group performs regular reviews of the financial institutions with which it
transacts as to their credit worthiness and financial condition. The group includes a credit risk adjustment based
upon the credit default swap spread in the valuation of derivative instruments. however, the group doees not
cxpect there o be any significant non-performance risks associated with its counterpartios.

Financia] Instruments
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities - Financial Risk Management

The company and group have obligations in a combination of US dollars, curos. and pounds sterling at tixed
and variable interest rates. As a result the group is exposed to variability in its cash flows and eamings resulting
from changes in toreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.

The group’s objective in managing its exposure to interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates is to
decrease the volatlity of its carnings and cash flows caused by changes in the underlying rates. The group has
cstablished policies and procedures o govemn these exposures and has entered into derivative financial
instruments including interest rate swaps. cross-currency interest rate swaps and forcign currency forward rate
contracts.  Subsidiaries of Virgin Media Finance PLC hold financial instruments which hedge the foreign
currency risk of debt issued by its fellow group undertakings. [t 1s the group’s policy not o enter into derivative
tinancial instruments tor speculative trading purposes. nor to enter into derivative financial instruments with a
level of complexity or with a risk that 15 greater than the exposure to be managed. The amounts below include
amounts relating to short term as well as long term payables.

With the exception ot a limited number of interest rate swaps. the group has clected not to designate derivative
instruments as accounting hedges. although these remain cconomic hedges.

LA
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21 Financial Instruments (continued)

The tair values of derivative financial instruments recognised tn the Group Balance Sheet are as follows:

Inciuded within current assets:

Fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps
Cross-curreney interest rate swaps

Dertvatives not designdivd as hedges
Interest rate swaps
Cross-currency interest rate swaps
Foreign Currency Forward Contract

Ircluded within non-current assers:
Fair value hedges
Intercst rate swaps
Cross-currency interest rate swaps
Derivatives not designated as hedges
[ntcrest rate swaps
Cross-currency intercst rate swaps

Included within current lighilities.
Derivatives not designuted as hedges
[ntcrest rate swaps
Cross-currency intercst rate swaps
Foreign Currency Forward Contract

ncluded within non-current abilities:
Derivatives not designated as hedges
Interest rate swaps
Cross-currency interest rate swaps

2020 2019
£ million £ million
52 17.7
- 38
384 276
226 313
0.4 -
66.6 824
- 8.9
- 376
110.7 733
169 .4} 3 l(}“v)_
2797 430.9
93.2 126.1
531 7.0
1.9 0.5
148.2 133.6
2857 241.0
320 161.8
607.7 402 8

Cross-currency interest rate swaps - hedging the principal and interest payments of scnior notes and

senior credit facility

The terms of the group’s outstanding cross-currency interest rate swaps, which are used to mitigate the inwerest
and forcign exchange rate risks relating o the pound sterling value of principal and interest payvments on U.S.
dollar and euro denominated senior notes and senior sceured notes at 31 December 2020 were as tollows:

Final maturity

date of hedges Hedge tvpe

January 2021 - January 2028 Not designated
January 2023 Not designated
July 2028 Not designated
July 2028 Not designated

th
o

Notional
amount

du¢ from
counterparty
million
$11.499.0
£1.005.5
$166.6

€300.0

Notional
amount
due to
counterparty
million
£8.6499.5
SEA5.0
€150.0
£445.6

Weighted
average
remaining
life

5.5
4.1
7.3
7.3
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21 Financial Instruments (continued)

Interest rate swaps - hedging of interest rate sensitive obligations

As ot 31 December 2020, the group had vutstanding interest ratc swap agreements to manage the exposure to
variability in future cash flows on the interest payments associated with its senior credit facility which accrues
at variable rares based on LIBOR. The group has alse entered info interest rate swap agreements to manage 1ts
exposure o changes in the fatr value ot certain debt obligations due to mterest rate tluctuations. The interest
rate swaps allow the group to receive or pay interest based on six month LIBOR or fixed rates in exchange for
payments or receipts of interest at six month LIBOR or fixed rates.

The terms of the group’s outstanding interest rate swap contracts at 3 | December 2020 were as follows:

Final maturity

date of hedge Hedge tyvpe Pay fixed rate Receive fixed rate
Weighted Weighted
Notional average Notional average
million remaining life million remaining life
January 2021 - Janaury 2028 Not designated £14.402.4 38 £3.5308 4.2

The notional ameunts of multiple derivatne instruments that mature within the same calendar month are shown
In aggregate.

Interest rate swaptions

The group has entered into various interest rate swap options (swaptions). which give the right. but no
obligation, to enter into certain interest rate swap contracts at set dates in the future, with each such contract
having a hife of no more than three vears. At the transaction date, the strike rate of cach of these contacts was

above the corresponding market rate.

The terms of outstanding interest rate swap oplion contriacts at 31 Decernber 2020 were as follows:

Notional Weighted Weighted

amount Underlving average option average

due from swap expiration strike

Final maturity date Hedge tvpe counterparty currency period rate
million %

October 2022 - January 2027 Not designated £1.9362 GBP 0.2 241

Basis Swaps

The terms ot outstanding basis swap contraces at 31 December 2020 were as tollows:

Weighted

average

Notional remaining

Final maturity date Hedge cvpe amount life
million

July 2021 Not designated £00.0 (.5

July 2021 Not designated $3.300.0 15
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21 Financial Instruments {continued)
Foreign currency forward options and forward contracts

The group hax entered into ¢xternal foreign currency forward options and foreign currency forward contracts in
order to manage foreign currency exposure risk with respect to Indian rupee (INR).

Foreign currency forward options
The tollowing toreign currency torward options with a third party were in place at 31 December 2020:

Exchange currency Notional amount
million
Indian rupee £0.5

Foreign currency forward contracts
The following toreign currency forward contracts with a related party were in place at 31 December 2024

Maturity dates Currency purchase forward Currency seld forward

milllion milllion
January 2021 - December 2021 $43.7 £33.9
Fanuary 2021 - December 2021 €499 446
January 2021 - December 2021 £3.9 £5.2

Interest Rate Caps and Floors

From time to time. we enter into interest rate cap and tloor agreements. Purchased interest rate caps lock in a
maximum interest rate 1f variable rates rise, but also allow our company to benetit tfrom declines in market
rates. Purchased interest rate floors protect us from interest rates falling below a certain level. generally to
match a floating rate floor on a debr instrument. At December 31, 2020, the pound sterling equivalent notional
amounts of our purchased interest rate caps and floors were £1.568. dmillion and £3.317.4 mullion. respectively.

Cash flow hedges

The group has elected not 10 designate derivative instruments as accounting hedges. although these remain
economic hedges. The group has recognised effective portion of gains on losses in the unrealised gains and
losses in the Group Staterment of Comprehensive [ncome as result of historic derivative instruments that were
designated as cash flow hedges and hedges of commercial operational contracts,

Changes in the fair values of derivative instruments are recorded as gains or losses on derivative wstruments in
the Group Income Statement in the period in which they occur. The following table presents movements in
Other Comprehensive Income related to cash flow hedges for the vear ended 31 December 2020:

Cross
currency
interest rate
Total swaps Tax effect
£ million £ million £ million
Balance at 31 December 2019 0.7 (102 209
Amounts recognised in Statement ot
Comprchensive Income reclassified to carmungs +.7 47 -
Balance at 31 December 2020 154 (5.5} 209

[ncluded within amounts reclassified to eamings (s £4.7 mullion (2019 - £5.4 milhony of net losses that have
been recycled from the cash flow hedge reserve through the income statement n respect of swaps for which
either designation was revoked. or the hedged instrument was settled as part ot refinancing activities.

6!
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21 Financial Instruments (continued)
Fair value hedges
For derivative mstruments that are designated and qualify as farr value accounting hedges, the gain or loss on
derivatives 1s recognised in the Group lncome Statement in the period in which they occur, twgether with any
changes in the fair value of the hedged debt obligations due to changes in the hedged risks.

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Set out below 1s a companison by category ot carrving values and fair values ot the group's financial assets and
financial liabilities. where ditferent. as at 31 December:

2020 2020 2019 2019
Carrying value Fair value Carrving value Fair value
£ million £ million £ million £ million

Senior credit facility (3.967.6) (3.961.2) (3998 4) (4.126.%)
5.25% U.S. dollar senior notes duc 2022 - - (38.9) (39.7)
4.873% U.S. dellar semor notes due 2022 - - (541 (55.0)
5.125% pound sterling senior notes due 2022 - - (442 (44.0)
6" 0 ULS. dollar senior notes due 2024 - - 1372.6) {387.3)
4.5%% euro senior notes duce 2025 - - (386.7) (4007
5.75% 1.8 dollor sentor notes due 2025 - - {2914 {302.5)
6.0%% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2025 - - (339.9) {375.6)
3.5% U.S. dollar senior secured notes due 2026 {546.3) (572.7) (>61.7) {3939)
4.873% pound sterling senijor secured notes due 2027 - - {(323.6) (549.9)
5.0% pound sterling scnior secured notes due 2027 (672.3) {709.9) (672.1) (717.6)
6.25%, pound sterling senijor sceured notes due 20029 - - (360.7y (385.3)
5307, U.S dollar senior secured notes due 2029 (1.0d6.4) (1.134.2) (1.077.3) (1.142.h
5.25%, pound sterling senior secured notes due 2029 (3301 (367.9%) (3406.1) (3639
4.25%, pound sterling senior securcd notes due 2030 {627.3) {655.7) (396.4) (408.5)
4.50%, U.S dollar senior secured notes due 2030 (671.8) (704.1) - -

41259, pound steriing senior secured netes due 20340 (477.1) {490.9) - -

5.0°5 U.S dollar sentor notes due 2030 {674.3) (707.9) - -

3.75%0 curo senior notes Jue 2030 4453 457.1) - -

The carrving values of amounts not listed above approximate their fair values,

The group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by
valuation technique:

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical asscts or habilities.

Level 2 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities: or
Unadjusted quoted prices tor identical or vimilar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; or
Inputs other than quoted prices that are obsers able for the asset or liability.

Level 3 Unobservable inputs for the asset or Hability.

The group endeavours to utihse the best available information in measuring fair value. Financial assets and
liabilities are classitfied in thewr entirety based on the lowest level of input that 18 signiticant to the fair value
measurament.




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the vear ended 31 December 2020

21 Financial Instruments (continued)

As al 31 December 2020, the fair value of the linancial instruments held by the group s as totlows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million
Financial assets at fair value
Cash, short term deposits and restricted cash 59.0 - - 59.0
Cross-currency interest rale swaps - 191.6 - 191.6
Interest rate swaps - 154.3 - 154.3
Foreign currency forward rale conlraces - 04 - 0.4
59.0 3463 - 4053
Financial liabilities at fair value
Senior credit tacility 3612 - - 39e6l.2
Senior notes 1.165.0 - - 1.165.0
Senior secured notes 4.635.4 - - 4.6354
Cross-currency intcrest rate swaps - 365.1 - 365.1
[nterest rate swaps - 3709 18.0 3¥R.9
Foreign currency forward rate contracts - - 1.9 - 1.9
9.761.6 7379 18.0 10.517.5

In ecstimating the fair valuc of other financial instruments, the group used the following methods and
assumptions:

Cush and short term deposits, und vestricted cash: The carrymg amounts reported in the Group Balance Sheet
approximate fair value due to the short maturity and nature ot these tinancial instruments.

Derivative financial instruments:  As a result of the group's financing activitics. it 1s cxposed to market risks
from changes in interest and foreign currency exchange rates. which may adversely atfect its operating results
and financial position. When deemed appropriate. the group minimises risks trom interest and foreign currency
exchange rate fluctuations through the use of derivative financial instruments. The foreign currency forward
rale contracts, interest rate swaps (excluding swaptions) and cross-currency interest rate swaps are valued using
broker quotations, or markct transactions in cither the listed or over-the counter markets. adjusted for non-
performance risk. As such. these dernvative instruments are ¢lassified within level 2 of the fair value hicrarchy.
Due 1o the lack of Level 2 inputs for the swaption valuations. the group believe these valuations fall under
Level 3 of the tair value hierarchy.

Sentor notes. senior secured notes and senior credit facility: The fair values ot the senior credit facility, senior
notes and senior secured notes in the above table are based on the quoted market prices in active markets for the
underlying third party debt and incorporate non-performance risk. Accordingly, the inputs used to value the

senior notes and scnior secured notes are classitied within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

During the vear, there were no transfers between Level 1. Level 2 and Level 3.
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22 Discontinued operation

On 30 November 2020 the group sold its Irish subsidiary UPC Broadband [reland Limited wo another subsidiary of
Liberty Global. Newco Holdeo 5 Limited. that is outside ot the Virgin Media Group. This has been reported in the
current vear as a discontinued operation. Financial information relating to the discontinued operation for the period
1o the date of disposal is set vut below,

Financial performance and cash flow information

The financial information presented is for the 11 month period ended 30 November 2020 (2020 column) and the
vear ended 31 December 2019 (2019 column).

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Revenue 3082 3325
Expenscs (299 8) (2929
Profit betore income tax } 8.4 39.6
Income 1ax expense - -
Profit alter income Lax 84 39.6
Gain on sale 6685 -
Profit from discontinued operation 676.9 39.6
Exchange difference on translation S (9.4 {9.5)
Other comprchensive income from discontinued operation (9.4} {9.5)

For cash flow information i relation o the discontinued vperation please see the Group Cash Flow Statement
on page 26.

Details of the sale of the subsidiary
2020

£ million

Consideration receivable:

Cash 1788
Carrving amounts of net habihies sold (189.7)
Gain on sale before income tax 0685
Income tax on gain -
Gain on sale after tax 8685

6.4
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22 Discontinued operation (continued)
The carrying amounts of assets and liabilites as at the date of sale {30 Nonember 2020) were:

30 November 2020
£ million

Intangible assets 165.6
Property. plant and equipment 3698
Other long term assets 3.0
[nventory 25
Trade and other receivables 1.1
Cash 13.3
Total assets 5953
Trade and other payables {120.0)
Pension liability (6.1
Other long term payables {638.9)
Net liabilities (189.7}

23 Equity share capital

2020 2019
£ 000 £ 000
Allotted. called wp and fully paid:
76,184 {2019 - 76.184) ordinary shares of £1 each 76 76

24 Share-based payments

The group’s emplovees are entitled to partake in Liberty Global ple share-based schemes. These share schemes
consist of steck options and performance plans including stock appreciation rights ("SARs™). performance-
based share appreciation rights (“PSARs™), restricted stock. restricted stock units {"RSUs™} and performance
share units (“PSUs™. The schemes provide share based compensauon to individuals under the conditions
describe below. The grant date fair values for options, share appreciation rights (SARs) and performance-based
sharc appreciation rights (PSARs) are estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, and the grant
date fair values for restricted share units {RSUs) and performance-based restricted share units (PSUs) arc based
upon the closing share price of Liberty Global ordinary shares on the date of grant. We calculate the expected
lite of options and SARs granted by Liberty Global to employees based on historical exercise trends. The
arrangements are equity settled with the employees. Liberty Global recharges the group for share schemes made
avatlable to the group employees.

Full detailed information on the group’s share based pavmems are disclosed in the financial siatements of
Virgin Media Inc. which are available on Liberty Global's websne at www libertvglobal.com.

The income statement charge for share based pavments for the vear was £51.6 mulhon (2019: £45.1 million).

jw
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24 Share-based payvments (continued)
Liberty Global Share Incentive Plans

As of December 31, 2020, Libertv Global s authorized to grant incentive awards under the Liberty Global 2014
Incentive Plan. Generally, the compensation commuttee of Liberty Global's board of directors may grant non-
qualitied share options. SARs, restricted shares. RSUs. cash awards. performance awards or anv combination of
the foregoing (collectively. awards). Ordinary shares ssuable pursuant to awards made under these incentive
plans will bec made available from either authorized but unissued shares or shares that have been issued but
reacquired by Liberty Global. Awards may be granted at or above fair value in any class of ordinary shares. The
maximum number of Liberty Global shares with respect 1o which awards may be issued under the Liberty
Global 2014 Incentive Plan is [35 million (of which no more than 50.23 million shares may consist of Class
B ordinary shares). subject to anti-dilution and other adjustment provisions in the respective plan. As of
December 31. 2020, the Liberty Global 2014 Incentive Plan had 60,799,181 ordinary sharcs available for grant.

Awards {other than pertormance-based awards) under the Liberty Global 2014 Incentive Plan generally (i) vest
(a) prior to 2020, 12.5% on the six month anniversary of the grant date and then at a rate ot 6.25%, each quarter
thereafter and (b) commencing in 2020. annually over a three-year pertod and (it expire {1} prior to 2019.
seven years after the grant date and (2) commencing in 2019, 10 years after the grant date. RSUs vest on the
date of the first annual general meeting of Liberty Global sharcholders following the grant date.

Liberty Global Performance Awards

The following is a summary of the material terms and conditions with respect o Liberty Global's performance-
based awards for certain executive otficers and key emplovees for which awards were granted under the Liberty
Global Incentive Plan and the Virgin Media Incentive Plan,

Liberty Global PSUy

In April 2019, the compensation committee of Liberty Global's board of directors approved the grant of PSUs
to executive officers and key emplovees (the 2019 PSUs) pursuant to a performance plan that is based on the
achievement of a specified OCF CAGR during the two-year peried ending December 31, 2020. The 2019 PSUs
include over- and under-performance payout epportunities should the OCF CAGR exceed or fail te meet the
target. as applicable. A performance range ot 30% to 125 of the target OCF CAGR will generally result in
award recipients carning 50°% 1o 150°%, of their target 2019 PSUs. subject to reduction or forfeiture based on
individual performance. The carned 2019 PSUs will vest 50% on April 1, 2021 and 50% on October 1, 2021.

During 2018, the compensation commuittee of Liberty (GGlobal's board of directors approved the grant of PSUs to
executive officers and key employees (the 2018 PSUs) pursuant to a performance plan that 1s based on the
achievement ot a specified OCF CAGR during the two-year period that ended on December 31, 2019, The 2013
PSUs include over- and under performance payout opportunities should the OCF CAGR exceed or fail to meet
the target, as applicable. A performance range of 50% to 125% of the target OCF CAGR will generally result in
award recipients carning 50% tw 130°% of their target 2018 PSUs. subject to reduction or forfeiture based on
individual performance. The earned 2018 PSUs will vest 50°% on each of April 1. 2020 and 50y on October 1.
2020. The target OCF CAGR for the 2018 PSUs was determined on October 26. 2018 and. accordingly.
associated compensation expense has been recognized prospectively from that date.

In February 2016, Liberty Global's compensation commitiee approved the grant of PSUs 1o executive officers
and key employcees (the 2016 PSUsy The pertormance plan for the 2016 PSUs covered a three-year period that
ended on December 31, 2018 and included a performance target based on the achicvement of a specified
compound annual grewth rate (CAGRY in an Adjusted EBITDA metric (as detined in the applicable underlving
agreement). The performance target was adjusted for events such as acquisitions. dispositions and changes in
foretgn cwrency exchange rates that affect comparability (Adjusted EBITDA CAGR). The 2016 PSUs. as
adjusted through the 2017 Award Modifcation. required deliverv of an Adjusted EBITDA CAGR of 6.0,
during the three-year performance period for Liberty Global depending on the respective class of shares
underlying the award. Participants carned 82.3% ot their targeted awards under the 2016 PSUs. which vested
30%y on cach of April 1. 2019 and October 1. 2019,
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Share-based payments {continued)

Liberee Global Challenge Performance dwards

Effective 24 Junc 2013, Liberty Global's compensation committee approved the Challenge Performance
Awards. which conststed solely of PSARs tor Liberty Global™s senior executive ofticers and a combination of
PSARs and PSUs for other executive officers and key employees. Each PSU represented the right to receive
one Liberty Global or LILAC Class A or Class C ordinary share, as applicable. The performance criteria for the
Challenge Pertformance Awards was based on the participant’s performance and achievement ot individual
goals in each of the years 2013, 2014 and 2013, As a result of satistying performance conditions. 100% of the
then outstanding Challenge Performance Awards vested and became fully exercisable on 24 June 2016. The
PSARs have a term of seven years and base prices equal to the respectuve market closing prices of the
applicable class on the grant date.

Firgin Media Stock Incentive Pluns

Equity awards were granted to certain of the group’s employees, prior to Liberty Global's acquisition ot Virgin
Media in June 2013, under certain incentive plans maintained and administered by the group and no new grants
will be made under these incentive plans. The equity awards granted mclude stock options. restricted shares.
RSUs and performance awards. Awards under the VM Incentive Plan have a 10-vear term and become tully
excreisable within five years of continued employment

Reserves

Equitv share capital
The balance classified as share capital represents the nominal value on issue of the company's equity share
capital. comprising £1 ordinary shares.

Shure premium account
Share premium represents the amount of consideration received for the company's equity share capital in excess
ot the nominal value of shares 1ssued.

Other capitual reserves comprising merger reserve and capitul contributions
The rcsults of subsidiarv undertakings acquired through group reorganisations have given rise 1o the
requirement to make adjustments on consolidation in the merger reserve.

Unrealised gainy and lossey
This reserve records the portion of gain or loss on hedging instruments that are determined to be effective
hedges. and the exchange differences on retranslation of foreign operations,

Foreign currency translation reserve
This reserve records the gain or loss on the retranslation of subsidiary undertakings with functional currencies
other than pound sterling.

Retained earnings
This reserve records ali current and prior period retained profit and losses.

26 Capital commitments

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Amounts contracted tor but not provided in the accounts 431.2 331.7
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Contingencies

On 19 March 2014, the UK government announced a change in legislanon with respect to the charging of VAT
in connection with prompt payment discounts such as those that the group offer w fixed-line telephony
customers. This change. which toek etfect on | May 2014, impacted the group and some of its competitors. The
UK tax authority issued a decision in the fourth quarter ot 2015 challenging the group’s application of the
prompt payment discount rules prior to the 1 May 2014 change in legislation. The group appealed this decision.
As part of the appeal process. the group were required to make aggregate payments of £67.0 million,
comprising of the challenged amount of £63.7 million {which the group paid during the fourth quarter of 2015}
and related interest of £3.3 million {which the group paid during the first quarter of 2016). No provision was
rccorded by the group at that time as the likelihood ot loss was not considered to be prebabie. The aggregate
amount paid does not include penaltics, which could be significant in the event that penalties were to be
assessed. In September 20138, the court rejected the group’s appeal and ruled in tavour of the UK tax authority.
Accordingly. during the third quarter of 2018, the group recorded a provision for litigation of £63.7 million and
related interest expense of £3.3 million i the group’s income statement. The First Tier Tribunal gave
permuission to appeal to the Upper Tribunal and the group submmitted grounds for appeal on 22 February 2019.
The group subsequently lost the appeal at the Upper Tribunal and in October 2020 our request to further appeal
the case was denied by the Court ot Appcal.

Pensien and other post-retirement benefits

The group operates two defined benefit schemes in the UK, the NTL Penston Plan and the 1999 ntl Pension
Scheme which provide both pensions in retirement and death benefits to members. Pension benefits are related
1o the members® final salary at retirement and their length of service.

As at 31 December 2019. the group also held a defined benetit scheme in Ireland. Virgin Media Ireland Limited
Defined Benefit Plan. which was disposed of with the sale of its subsidiary UPC Broadband Ireland Limited on
30 November 2020 (scc note 22).

Defined contribution plans

The group contributes o the Virgin Media sponsored group personal pension plans of cligible employees.
Contributions arc charged to the Group Income Statement as they become pavable. in accordance with the rules
ot the plans.

Contributions to the defined contribution plans during the period were £29 5 million (2019 - £27.6 million).
The amount of outstanding conmbuntions at 31 December 2020 included within current liabilities was £4.2
million (2019 - £4.1 million;.

Defined benefit plans
The group recognises any actuarial gains and losses in each period in the Group Statement ot Comprehensive
Income.

= 1999 ntl Pension Scheme

A subsidiary. Virgin Media Limited. operates a funded pension plan providing detined benctits (71999 mil
Pension Plan™. The plan has never been opened to new entrants exeept when the plan began and subsequently
on 31 May 2007, on both occastens new members were transferred from other existing plans. The Plan was
closed to future accrual on 31 January 2014, The assers of the plan are held separately from those of the
company. being invested in units of exempt unit trusts. The plan 15 funded by the payment of contributions to
separately administered frust funds. The pension costs are determined with the advice of independent qualitied
actuaries on the basis of tricnnial valuations using the prajected unit credit method.

* NTL Pension Plan

A subsidiary. Virgin Media Limited. operates a tunded pension plan providing detined benetits ("NTL Pension
Plan™). The pension plan was closed to new entrants as of 6 April 199%. The Plan was closed o future accrual
on 31 January 2014 The asscts of the plan are held separately from those of the company. 1n an independentiy
administered trust. The plan 1s tunded by the payment ot contributions to this separatels administered trust.
The penston costs are determined with the advice of independent qualified actuaries on the basis of triennial
valuations using the progected unit credit method.

The plans’ assets are measured ar fair value. The plans™ labilities are measured using the projected unit method
and discounted at the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond.
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28 Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

The table below pros ides summary information on the group’s defined benelit plans:

202¢ 2019
£ million £ million
Projected benefit obligation {633.5) (617.0)
Fair value of plan assets 727.9 6955
Net asset 924 78.5
Net periodic pension cost 0.8 0.9
Net defined benefit asset represented by:
Net defined benefit hiability - {7.9)
Net defined benefit asset 924 864
924 78.3
Movements in the defined benefit assets and habilines are as follows:
Defined benefit obligation  Fair value of plan assets Net defined benefit
asset/(liability)
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
£ miltion £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
UK UK Ireland UK UK [Ireland UK UK Ireland
Balance at 1 January (58100 (530.0) {(33.1) 6674 6197 253 86.4 89.7 {7.8}
Included in income
statement
Cuwrent admimn service cost - - - (1.7} il.ey - (1.7} {1.6} -
Past service cost - - - - - - -
Interest {cost)/income (1t4y  (14.6) 10.7) 13.5 17.0 0.5 21 24 (0.2)
Included in OCI
Actuanal (loss). gain arising from:
Chungcs_ m demographic 14 (0.6) i ) i i 34 (0.6) )
assumptions
Changes in financial (76.0)  (60.5) (4.9) : : ; (7601 (605) (49
assumplions
Experience adjustments {2.4) 0.7 02 - - - (2.4 0.7 0.2
Reeturn on plan assets . . - 780 s3I 2% 7RO S3® 28
excluding interest income
Other
Contributions paid by the ) ) ) 0.9 0y 17 09 0.9 17
employer
Eftects of movements in ) i 19 ) i (1.6) ) i 03
exchange rates
Benetfits paid 3w 24.0 0.6 (30.2) (221 (h6) 1.7 L6 -
Balance at 31 December {635.5) (581.0) (36.0y) 7279 6674 28.1 92.4 86.4 {79

1999 ntl Pension Scheme and NTL Pension Plan have been disclosed within the "UK™ figures.
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28 Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)
Virgin Media Ireland Limited Detined Benetit Plan is shown within the “lreland™ figures in 2019, this was
disposed of with the sale of the group’s subsidiary UPC Broadband Ireland Limited on 30 November 2020 (see

note 22).

The group’s pension plan weighted-average asset allocations by asset category at 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2019 were as tollows:

2020 UK long
term rate
of return UK total
£ million
Equities 4.7 198.5
Property 4.7 1.9
Corporate bonds 1.2%, 339.7
Government bonds 07% 571
Hedge tunds 4.2% {h1
Insurance policy {buyv-in) 1.2%, 195.1
Cash and other 0.7%, (64.5)
Total market value of assets 7279
Present value of plan liabilities {635.5)
Net pension assct 924
2019 Ireland
UK long long term
term rate rate of
of return UK total return  Ireland total
£ million £ million
Equities 5.3%, §1.7 2.2% 1.8
Property 3.3%, 23 - -
Corporate bonds 2.0% 196.7 2.2% 13.2
Government bonds 1.3% 69.0 - -
Hedge funds 4.8% 86.2 - -
Insurance pelicy (huy-in) 20% 182.5 - -
Cash and other 1.3% 46.0 2.2% 4.1
Total market salue of assets 6674 ' 281
Present value of plan liabilities (381.0) (36.0)
Net pension asset fliability) %64 {7.9)
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28 Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)
The trustees of NTL Pension Plan purchased an msurance contract that will pay an income stream to the plan
which is expected to match all tuture cash outflows in respect of certain habilities. The Lur value of this
insurance contract 1s presented as an asset of the plan and 15 measured based on the future cash flows to be

recenved under the contract discounted using the same discount rate used to measure the associated liabilities.

Actuarial assumptions
The tollowing are the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date {expressed as weighted averages):

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benetit costs were as tollows:

2020 2019

UK UK [reland
Discount rate [.2%0 2.0% 1.2%
Future salary increases 2.9% 2.9% 0.0%0

The assumptions relating to longevity underlying the pension liabilines at the balance sheet date are based on
standard actuarial mortality tables and include an allowance for future mmprovements in longevity. The
assumptions are equivalent to expecting a 60-year old to live for a number ot vears as follows:

UK
2026 2019
Current pensioner aged 60 {male) 272 27.3
Currcat pensioner aged 60 (female) 291 29.1
Future retiree upon reaching 60 (male} 8.7 28.8
Future retiree upon reaching 690 (female} 30.6 30.6

Sensitivity analysis

The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the assumptions set out above. The following
table summarises how the impact on the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting penod would have
increased;{decreased) as a resubt of a change in the respective assumptions by 0.25 percent.

2020 2019

UK UK Ireland
Discount rate {26.3) {241 (1.4)
Inflation 2.6 23 0.4

[n valuing the assets of the UK pension fund at 31 December 2020, mortality assumptions have been made as
indicated above. If life expectancy had been changed to assume that all members of the fund lived for one year
longer. the value of the reported labilities at 31 December 2020 would have increased by £2%.6 million betore
deferred tax tor the UK pensions.

The above sensitivities are bascd on the average duration of the benefit obltgation determined at the date of the
last full actuanal valuation at 31 December 2020 and are applied to adjust the defined benefit obligation at the
end of the reporting peried for the assumptions concerned. Whilst the analvsis docs not take account ot the full
distribution of cash flows expected under the plan. it does provide an approximation to the sensitivity of the
assumptions shown,

Funding
The group expects to contribute £2.35 million to the defined benefit pension plans in 202 1.
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29 Related party transactions
During the vear. the group entered into transactions in the ordinary course of business with other related partics.

Transactions ¢ntered into during the year, and trading balances outstanding at 31 December with other related
partics. are as follows:

Services Interest Amounts Amounts
rendered by charged to owed by owed to
related related related related
party party party party
Reluted purty £ million £ million £ miilion £ million
Parent undertakings
2020 - - 4.9012 (160.4)
2019 . . . (52,2
Fellow subsidiary
undertakings
2020 - - 248 -
2019 - - 1.6 -
Liberty Global group
undertakings
2020 {325.7) 276.9 1.695 4 {900}
2019 (225.4) 2838 353 (48.9)

Fuarent undertakings

The group is headed by Virgin Media Inc. and has been indebted to the group. which receives interest income
according to the lerms of cach loan agreement. The group recharges the ultimate parent company for certain
costs directly attributed to the operations of that company including allocable payroll and related expenses.

Fetlow subsidiary underiakings

The net recovery of debts by Virgin Media Limited relating ro the customers of fellow subsidiary undertakings,
namely Virgin Media Mobile Finance Limited. through centralised debt collection and treasury operatiens,
generates trading balances which are offset by operating expenses and capital purchascs that are also recharged
by Virgin Media Limited. Virgin Media Limited 15 an indirect subsidiary of the company whilst Virgin Media
Mobile Finance Limited is outside the group headed by the company.

Liberty Group undertakings

The company’s ultimate parent is Liberty Glubal ple which also controls the group and the Virgin Media group.
Certain debt raised by the group has been passed up to Liberty Global entities that sit outside the Virgin Media
group. The debt of £4.798.7 million {see note 12} attracts interest which Liberty Global entities pay to the group
according to the terms of each loan arrangement.

Termys and conditions of trunsactions with reluted parties

The terms of the loans payable to parent undertakings arc as outlined in note 16, (ertain expenscs are
specitically atrtbutable to each company in the group. Where caosts are incurred by Virgin Media Limited on
behalt of other group companies. expenses are allocated to the other group compantes on a basis that, in the
opinion of the directors. 15 reasonable.
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29 Related party transactions {(continued)

Compensation of key management personnel {including directors)
The compensation paid or pavable to kev management tor cmplovee services is shown below:

2020 2019

£ million { million

Short-term employec benefits 2.0 0.5
Post-employment benetits 0.1 0.t
Nun-cquity incentive plan 0.3 33
Share bused payincnts 48 44
13.2 18.3

Kev management represents directors and members of Virgin Media™s exccutive commitice.

30 Principal subsidiary undertakings

The investments in which the group held at least 20, of the nominal value of any class of share capimal. all of
which are unlisted, are as tellows. All are registered in England and Wales unless otherwise noted.

Proportion
af
Voring rights
and
Subsidiary Holding  shares held Prm?’t‘{oal
. achivites
Direct shareholdings of Virgin Media Finance PLC
Virgin Media Investment Holdings Limited Ordinary 100%, Finance
Indirect shareholdings
nil Business Limited Ordinary 100% Telecoms
ntl CableComms Group Limited Ordinary 100% Holding
ntl Glasgow z Ordinary 56% Telecoms
ntl Kirklees Ordinary 52% Telecoms
Virgin Media Business Limited Ordinary 1O, Telecoms
Virgin Med:a Investments Limited Ordinary 100% Finance
Virgin Media Limited Ordinary 100%, Telecoms
Virgin Media Payments Limited Ordinary 100%, Collections
Virgin Media Senior Investments Limited Ordinary 100%, Holding
Virgin Media Wholesale Limited Ordinary 1008 Telecoms
Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited Ordinary 100%, Telecoms
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30 Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under section 349 ( C ) of the Companies Act 2006

Proportion

of

voting rights

and
lolding  shares held P,.in,(ll;‘,’)al
uclivites

Subswdiar

BCMYV Limited Ordinary 1004, Dormant
Birmingham Cable Limited d Ordinary 100% Dormant
Cable London Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
CableTel Herts and Beds Limited Ordinary 100%% Dormant
CableTel Northern Ireland Limited B Ordinary 100%, Dormant
CableTel Surrey and Hampshire Limited Ordinary 100%, Dormant
Eurobell (Holdings) Limited Ordinary 1060% Holding
ntl (B) Limited Ordinary LO0% Holding
ntl { Broadland) Limited Ordinary 1005, Dormant
ntl (CWC) Corporation Limmited @ Ordinary L0074 Dormant
ntl {South East) Lemited Ordinary 100%% Dormant
ntl (V) Ordinary 100, Dormant
ntl CableComms Surrey Ordinary 104, Dormant
nt] Midlands Limited Ordinary 10% Dormant
ntl National Networks Limited Ordinary 100%, Dormant
ntl Pension Trustees [ Limited Ordinary 100%; Corporate
i} Trustee
ntl Pension Trustees Limited Ordinary 100%% Corporate
’ Trustee
ntl South Central Limited Ordinary 104°%% Darmant
ntl Telecom Services Limited Ordinary 1007% Dormant
ntl Trustees Limited Ordinary 100 Corporate
. Trustee
Eif:;?t Communications (Dundee & Perth) s Ordinary L00%, Dormant
Telewest Communications (Glenrothes) Limited 3 Ordinary 1060 Dormant
Ive“l:i:j'efitr;i(t)::mumcuuons {Midlands and North Ordinary L00% % Dormant
Telewest Communications (Nonh East) Limited & Ordinary 101, Dorrnant
Telewest Commumcations ( Scotland) Limited < Ordinary 1004, Dormant
Telewest Communications (South Easty Limited 413 Ordinary 100y Dormant
Telewest Communications {South West) Limited @ Ordinary Looe, Dormant
Telewest Communications (Tyneside) Limited o Ordinary 100°% Dormant
Telewest Communications Cable Limited Ordinary 100%, Dormant
Theseus No. [ Limited Ordinary 100, Holding
Theseus No.2 Limited Ordinary 100%, Helding
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30 Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under section 349 ( C ) of the Companies Act 2006 {continued)

Virgin Media Employee Medical Trust Limited Ordinary 100% Corporate
Trustee
Virgin Media PCHC [ Limited @ Ordinary 100%, Dormant
Virgin Media PCHC Limited Ordinary L0t Dormant
VM Transters (INo 4} Limited Ordinary LOB0 5 Dormant
Yorkshire Cable Communications Limited Ordinary 100%, Dormant
Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under section 479 ( A ) of the Companies Act 2006
Proporiion
ot
vaoting rights
und
Holding  shares held Prmf‘tpa[
achivites
Subsidiary
Bitbuzz UK Limited Ordinary 1002, Telecoms
Cable on Demand Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Channel 6 Broadcasting Limited ¥ Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Cullen Broadcasting Limited b Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Flextech Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Cieneral Cable Limited Ordinarv 100 Holding
Kish Media Limited ¥ Ordinary 1005 Dormant
Matcheo Limited Ordinary T76% Dormant
ntl (CWC) Limited b Ordinary 100%, Dormant
NTL CableComms Group, LLC = Common stock 100 Dormant
ntl Communications Services Limited Ordinary 100% Holding
ntl Glasgow Iloldings Limited i Ordinary 51" Holding
ntl Kirklees Holdings Limited n Ordinarv 51% Holding
ntl Rectangle Linuted Ordinary 100% Holding
Telewest Communications Networks Limited Ordinary 1%, Holding
Telewest Limited Ordinary 100% Holding
Tullamore Beta Limited bd Ordinary 1008, Holding
TV Three Enterprises Limited ¥ Ordinary 100%, Dormant
TV Three Sales Lirmted v Ordinary 1009, Dormant
Virgin Media Bristol LTC = Common stock 100, Finance
Virgin Media Finco 2 Limited Ordinary 100° 4 Non-Trading
Virgin Media Finco Limited Ordinary 1067, Finance
Virgin Media Intermediary Purchaser Limited Ordinary L0 Non-Trading
Virgin Media Operations Limited Ordinary 1Oy Holding
Virgin Media Secretarics Limited Ordinary 100%, Dormant
Virgin Media Secured Finance PLC Ordinary 1062 Finunce
Virgin Media SFA Finance Limited Ordinary 106%, Finance

|
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30 Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under section 479 ( A ) of the Companies Act 2006 (continued)
Virgin Media Television Limited W Ordmary 100", Telecoms
Virgin Media Trade Receivables Intermediary

) o Ordinary 1009, Non-Trading
Financing Limited =
Virgin WiFi Limited Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Virgin Media Ireland Group Limited Ordinary 1000, Holding

All compames are registered at 300 Brook Drive. Reading, United Kingdom, RG2 6UUL unless
otherwise noted below:

p Unit 3. Blackstatt Road, Kennedy Way Industrial Estate. Beltast. BT 9AP

‘ Macken House, 39 40 Mayor Strect Upper, Dublin 1, D01 COW¥

z | South Gyle Crescent Lane. Edinburgh, EHI12 9EG

= 251 Little Falls Drive. Wilmington. DE 19808, These entities arc registered in the USA.
n Remainder of shares held by group undertakings

D Dissolved subscquent to the year end

The company has issued a guarantee under Section 394C) of the Companies Act 2006 for the year ended 31
December 2020 in respect of the wholly owned dormant subsidiaries listed above in section “Indirect
sharcholdings — guaranteed under Scetion 394C) of the Companies Act 20067, The company guarantees all
outstanding lrabilities to which the substdiary company is subject to at 31 December 20206, unul they are
satisfied in full and the guarantec is enforceable against the company by any person o whom the subsidiary
company 1s liable in respect of those liabilities. These dormant subsidiarics have taken advantage of the
cxemption from prepanng indmidual accounts for the yvear ended 31 December 2020 by virue of Section
394(A) of the Companies Act 2006.

The guarantee under Section 394(C) of the Companies Act 2006 is in respect of the above subsidiaries, the
majority of which are 100% owned. either directly or indirectly.

The company has 1ssued a guarantee under Section 479(C) of the Companies Act 2006 for the vear ended 31
December 2020 in respect of the subsidiaries listed above tn section “Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under
Secnon A7) of the Compames Act 20067, The company guarantees all outstanding liabilines 1o which the
subsidiary company is subject to at 31 December 2020. until they are satisfied in tull and the guarantee is
entorceable against the company by any person to whom the subsidiary company is hable i respect of those
liabilities. These active subsidiaries have taken advantage of the exemption from audit of individual accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2020 by virtue of Section 479(A) of the Companies Act 2006.

The guarantee under Section 47%C) of the Companies Act 2006 1s in respect of the above subsidiaries. the
majerity of which are 100%, owned. either directly or indirectly.

Parent undertaking and controlling party

The company's immediate parent undertaking is Virgin Media Communications Limited.

The smallest and largest group of which the company 1s a member and in to which the company’s accounts
were consoltdated at 31 December 2020 are combined financial statements of the “Virgin Media Group™ and the
consohidated accounts of Liberty Global ple. respectively.

The company’s ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party at 31 December 2020 was Liberty Global ple.
Copies of the combined financial statements of the “Virgin Media Group™ and the consolidated accounts of

Liberty Global ple are asvailable on Liberty Global's website at www . libertyglobal.com or from the company
secretary. Liberty Global ple. Gritfin House, 161 Hammersmith Road. London. United Kingdom. W6 8BS,
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32 Post Balance Sheet Events

Joint venture transactions

On 7 May 2020. Liberty Global enterad into a Contribution Agreement with, among others. Telelonica, SA
{Telefontca). Pursuant to this agreement. Liberty Global and Telefonica agreed to torm a 50:34 jomnt venture,
which will combine Virgin Media’s vperations in the UK with Telefontca’s mobile business in the UK to ¢reate
a nationwide integrated communications provider. The formation of the joint venture was completed on 1 June
2021,

On 28 February 2021 Liberty Global entered into a contribution agreement with Echo Bidco SARL. Pursuant to
this agreement. Liberty Global and Echo Bidco SARL agreed to torm a 50:30 jomt venture, which will manage
a porttolio of investment properties.

Disposal of investment in subsidiaries

On 4 March 2021, as part of a wider group restructure. the group disposed of s mvestment in Cullen
Broadeasiing Limited and Tullamore Beta Limited.
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Notes 2020 2019
£ million £ million

Fixed assets
Investments in subsidiaries 3 4,6991 4.699 4
Current assets
Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year & 7.9 339
Debtors: amoeunts falling due within one year ) 1.966.5 2.000.0
Cash at bank and in hand 0.7 1.4

19751 20353
Creditors: amounts falling due within one vear 7 (3983} (329.5)
Net current assets 1,376.8 1.705.%
Total assets less current liabilities 60762 6.405.2
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than ence year 8 (9.207.3) (9.013.5)
Net liabilities (31311 (2.608.3}
Capital and reserves
Ordinary sharcs 10 0.1 0.1
Share premium account 11 6259 6259
Capital contribuiion 11 50 5.0
Accumulated losscs 't (3.762.1) {3.239.3)
Shareholders® deficit (3.131.1) {2.608.3)

The notes on pages 80 to 89 form part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for 1ssue by the board and were signed on its behalf on 28
June 2021

L Milner

Direcror

Company Registration Number: 03061787
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Share Profit
Share premium  Capital and loss
capital account contribution account Total

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
At | January 2020 0.1 6259 30 (3.239.3)  (2.608.3)

Comprehensive income for the yvear
Loss for the year - - - (322.%) (522.8)

As at December 2020 0.1 6259 5.0 (3.762.1)  (3.131.1)

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Share Profit
Share premium  Capital and loss
capital account contribution account Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

At 1 January 2019 0.1 625.9 5.0 (2,813.2)  (2,182.2)
Comprehensive income for the vear
Loss tor the year - - - (426.1) (426.1)
As at December 2019 .1 625.9 5.0 {3.239.3)  (2.608.3)

The notes on pages &0 to 89 form part of these financial statements.
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1 Company information

Virgin Medta Finance PLC (the “company™) is a private company incorporated. domiciled and registered in the
UK. The registered number is 65061787 and the registered address 13 300 Brook Drive. Reading. United Kingdom,
RG2 6UU.

2 Accounting policies

A summary of the principal accounting policics is sct out below. All accounting policies have been applied
consistently, unless noted below.

21 Basis of accounting

These financial statements were preparced on a going concernt basis and under the historical cost basis in
accardance with the Companies Act 2006 and the Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework ("FRS 1017}

In preparing these financial statements. the company applies the recognition. measurement and disclosure
requirements of [nternational Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of Companies Act 2006,
and has set out below where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

The company's ultimate parent undertakmg, Liberty Global ple. includes the company in its consolidated financial
statements. The consolidated financial statements ot Liberty Global ple are prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and are available to the public and may be obtained from Liberty
Global's website at www libertyglobal.com.

In these financial statements, the company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respect of the
tollowing disclosures. where required cquivalent disclosures are included within the company’s consolidated
financial statements:

e acash flow staternent and related notes;
» disclosurcs in respect of related party transactions with fellow group undertakings:
disclosures in respect ot caprtal management;

the effects of new but not vet etfective International Accounting Standards:

disclosures in respect ot the compensation of key management personnei: and

s disclosures of transactions with a management entity that provides kev management personnel services to
the company.

L I

As the consolidated financial statements of the company include the equivalent disclosures. the company has
also taken the exemptions under FRS 101 available in respect of the following disclosures:

e [FRS 2 share based payments n respect ot group settled share based payments: and
s certain disclosures required by IFRS 13 fuir value meusurement and the disclosures required by IFRS 7
financial instrument disclosures.

No profit and loss account 15 presented by the company us permitted by Section 40% ot the Compantes Act 2006.
22 Going concern

The financial statements have been approved on the basis that the company remains a gomng concern. The following
paragraphs summarise the basis on which the directors have reached thewr conclusion.

[t is Virgin Media’s practice for operational and financial management to be undertaken at a group level rather than
for individual cnuues that are wholly owned by the group. Treasury operations and cash management for all of
Liberty Global's wholly owned subsidiaries are managed on a Liberty Global group basis. As part of normal
business practice. regular cash flow torecasts fer both short and long term commitments are undertaken at group
level.
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2 Accounting policics (continued)
2.2 Going concern (continued)

Forecasts and projections prepared for the Virgin Media group as a whole, indicate that cash on hand. wsgether with
cash from operanons, repayment of amounts due to Virgin Media trom the Liberty Global group and undrawn
revolving credit facilities, are expected 1o be sufficient tor the Virgin Media group’s and hence the company’s cash
requirements through to at least 12 months from the approval of these financial statements.

Whilst the detailed cash flow torecasts arc prepared at the group level. the directors have also assessed the position
of the company. Notwithstanding net liabilities of £3.131.1 mullion as at 31 December 2020 and a toss for the year
end of £522.8 million, this assessment indicates that. taking account of reasonablv possible downsides. the company
will have sufticient resources, through funding from fellow substdiary companies 10 meet its liabilities as they fall
due for that period. Virgin Media Inc. has indicated its intention to continue to make such funds available to the
company as arc needed.,

As with any company pilacing reliance on other group entities for financtal support, the directors acknowledge that
therc can be no certainty that this support will continue aithough. at the date of approval of these financial
statermnents, they have no reason o believe that it will not do so. Consequently, the direetors are conlident that the
company will have sufficient funds to continue w meet its labilities as they fall due for at least 12 months tfrom the
date of approval of the financial statements and have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.
Consideration of the on-geing impact of COVID-19 has not altered this conclusion.

2.3 Foreign currencies

Transacuons in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the ransaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denommated m foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
The resulting exchange differences are taken to the protit and loss account.

2.4 Loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initiallv recogmsed at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. After initial
recognition. interest bearing loans and horrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Crains and losses arising on the repurchase. settlement or otherwise cancellation of liabilitics arc recognised
respectively in finance income and finance costs using the effective interest method,

Finance costs which are incurred in connection with the issuance of debt are deferred and set off against the
borrowings to which they relate. Deferred finance costs are amortised over the term of the related debt using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as creditors: amounts falling due within one vear unless the company has an unconditional
right to defer settlernent of the hability for at least 12 months after the reporting period in which case they are
classified as creditors: amounts talling due after more than one year.

2.5 Investments

Investments are recorded at cost, less provision lor impairment as appropriate.  The company assesses at cach
reporting date whether there 1s an indication that an investment may be impaired. If anv such indication exists, the
company makes an estimate of the imyvestment’s recoverable amount. Where the carrving amount of an investment
exeeeds ity recoverable amount, the investment is considered impaired and 1s written down to its recoverable
amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there was an event not foreseen in the original
impairment calculations. such as a change in use of the investment or a change in cconomic conditions.  The
reversal of impairment loss would be o the extent of the lower of the recoverable amount and the carrving amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the investment in prior vears.

2.6 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash cquivalents comprise cash at banks and 1n hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less.
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2 Accounting pelicics (continued)
2.7 Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The group has established policies and procedures o govern the management of its exposure to interest rate and
toreign currency exchange rate risks. through the use of derivative financial instruments. including interest rate
SWaps, cross-currency interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward rate contracts,

Derivative financial instruments arc nitially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract s
entercd inte and are subsequently remeasured at tair value at cach balance sheet date.

Derivatives are recognised as financial assets when the fair value is posittve and as liabilities when the tair value is
negative.

The foreign currency forward rate contracts. interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps are valued
using internal models based on observable inputs, counterparty valuations or market transactions in cither the listed
or over-the-counter markets. adjusted for non-pertormance risk. Non-pertormance risk is based upon quoted credit
default spreads for counterpartics w the contracts and swaps. Derivative contracts which are subject to master
neting arrangements are not ottset and have not provided, nor require. cash collateral with any counterparty.

While these instruments are subject to the risk of loss from changes in exchange rates and interest rates. these losses
would generally be offscet by gains 1n the related exposures. Financial instruments are only used to hedge underlying
commereial exposurcs. The group does not enter into derivative financial instrumems for speculative trading
purposes. nor does 1t enter into denvative financial instruments with a level of complexity or with a risk that is
greater than the exposure to be managed.

For denvatives which are designated as hedges, the hedging relationship s documented at 1ts inception. This
documentation identitics the hedging instrument, the hedged item or ransaction. the nature ot the risk being hedged
and how cffectiventess will be measured throughout tts duration. Such hedges are expected at inception to be highly
etfective.

The group designates certain deriy atives as erther fair value hedges. when hedging exposure o variability in the fair
value of recognised assets or liabihities or firm commitments. or as cashflow hedges. when hedging exposure
variability in cash flows that are cither attributable to a particular risk assoclated with a recognised asset or liability
or a highly probable forecast transaction.

Derivatives that are not part of an effecuve hedging relationship, as set out in [FRS 9. must be classified as held for
trading and measured at tair value through prolit or loss.

The treatment of gains and losses ansing from revaluing derivatives designated as hedging instruments depends
upon the nature of the hedging relznionship and are treated as follows:

Cash flow hedges

For cash flow hedges. the effective portion of the gam or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in
other comprehiensive income, while the inctfective portion is recogmsed in prefit or loss. Amounts taken to other
comprehensive income are reclassified o the profit and loss account when the hedged transaction is recognised n
profit or luss, such as when a forecast sale or purchase occurs, m the same line of the profit and loss account as the
recognised hedged em. Where the hedged item 15 the cost of a non-tinancial asset or liability, the gains and losses
previously accumulated in equity are transterred to the iitial measurement of the cost of the non-tinancial asset or
Liability.

It a forccast transaction is ne longer expected to ovcur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity s recognised
immediately in profit or loss. [f the hedging instrument cxpires or 5 sold. erminated or exercised without
replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge 1s revoked. amounts previously recogmised in other
comprehensive income remain in equity unnl the torecast transaction occurs and are reclasaitied to the protit and
loss account.
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2 Accounting policies (continucd)
2.7 Derivative financial instruments and hedging (continued)
Fair value hedges

For fair value hedges. the changes in the fair value of the hedging mstrument are recognised m prefit or loss
immediately. together with any changes in the tair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the
hedged risk. The change m the fair value of the hedging instrument and the change in the hedged item attributable to
the hedged risk are recognised in the line of the profit and loss account relating to the hedged ttem.

it the hedging mstrument expires or s sold. terminated or exercised without replacement or roilover. or it its
designanion as a hedge is revoked. then the fair value adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item arising
from the hedged risk is amortised to protit or loss from that date.

3 Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In preparing these financial statements. management has made estimates and judgements that atfect the application
of the company s accounting policies and the reporied amounts of asscts, liabilitics. income and cxpenses.

Estimates and assumptions

Carrying value of investments

[nvestments are held at cost less any necessary provision for impairment. Where the impairment assessment did not
provide any indication of impairment, no provision is required. It any such indications exist. the carrving vaiue of
an investment is written down to its recoverable amount.

Recoverability of intercompany receivables

Intercompany receivables are stated at their recoverable amount less any necessary provisien. Recoverability of
intercompany receivables is assessed annually and a provision is recognised if any indications exist that the
receivables are not considered recoverable.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Management uses valuation techniques 1o determine the fair value of financial instruments (where active market
quotes arc not available) and non-financial assets. This involves developing estimates and assumptions consistent
with how market participants would price the instrument.

Management hases its assumptions on obsersvable data as far as possible but this ts notalways available. In thal case
management uses the best information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that would
be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date (see note 9).

4 Loss attributable to members of the parent company

The loss in the accounts of the parent company was £522.8 mullion (2019: £426.1 million).

5 Investments in subsidiaries

£ million
Cost and net book value:
At I January 2020 1.699 4
At 31 December 26240 1.699.4
Net book value:
At 31 December 2020 1.699. 4
At 31 December 2019 4.699.4
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5

Investments in subsidiaries (centinued)

Details ot the principal investments m which the group or the company holds at least 20°, of the nominal value of
any class of share capital. all of which are unhsted. can be seen in note to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opimon of the directors the aggregate value of the investments in subsidiary undertakings is not less than the
amount at which they are stated 1n the financial statements.

6

Dcbtors
2020 2019
£ million £ million
Due after one vear
Loan notes due from group undertakings 1.9332 1.833.00
Derivative financial assets 333 167.0
1.966 3 2.000.0
Due within one vear
Derivative financial assets o 79 33.9

Amounts owed by group undertakings due after one year represent loan notes which had a carrying value of
£1.933.2 million {2019 - £1.833.0 million) at the balance sheet datc. Louan notes are denominated in sterling.
bear interest of 4.95% (subject to adjustment) and mature in April 2026,

Creditors: amounts falling due within one vear

2020 2019

£ million £ million

Derivative tinancial liabilities 350 6.6
Interest on loan notes due to group undertakings 833 492
Interest pavable on sentor notes 272 231
Amounts owed to group undertakings 76.6 748
Loan netes due to group undertakings 376.2 175.8

5983 3295

Loan notes due to group undertakings due within one vear include loan notes which had a carrying value of
£376.2 million (2019 - £175.8 million) at the balance shect date. Loan notes are denominated in steriing and US
dollar. bear interest ranging from 1.32%0 (0 7.53%, and are repavable on demand.

Amounts owed to group undertakings arc unsecured. interest-trec and repayable on demand.
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8 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one vear

2020 2019

£ million £ million

Loan notes due to group undertakings 7.996.6 77897
Senior notes 1.119.5 1.187.3
Dervative tinancial habilities 91.2 365
92073 9.013.5

Loan notes due to group underakings falling duc after more than one year had a carrying value of £7.996.6
million (2019 - £7.789.7) at the balance sheet date. Loan notes are denominated m sterling and US dollar, bear

interest at +.89%, (subject to adjustment). and mature between April 2026 and January 2028,

Borrowings are repavable as toliows:

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Amounts talling duc:
It more than two years but not more than five years - 509.2
In more than five years 9.116.1 34678
91161 8.977.0
Borrowings not wholly repayable within five years are as follows:
2020 2019
£ million £ million
Loan notes due to group undertakings 7.996.6 77897
Senior notes 1.119.5 678.1
Q1161 81678
Total borrowings comprise: 2020 2019
£ million £ millien
5.25%, U.S. dollar scnior notes duc 2022 - 38.8
4.8735%, U.S. dollar semior notes due 2022 - 34.0
5.125% Sterling senior notes due 2022 - 4.1
6.00" U.S. dollar senior notes due 2024 - 3747
5.75%, US dolar senior notes due 2025 - 2931
4.3% Euro semor notes dug 2025 - 3%9.4
5.40% LS. dollar senior notes due 2030 6793 -
3.75%, Euro senior notes due 2030 447.8 -
T1127.1 1.194.1
Less issue costs 17.6) (6.8)
11195 1.187.3

Total sentor notes
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8

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one vear {continued)
The company has the following senior notes in issuc as at 31 December 2024

1) 5,000 senior notes due 15 July 2030 — the principal amount at maturity is $675.0 million. Interest is payvable
semi-annually on 13 January and 13 Julv commencing 13 January 2021

2) 3.75% senior notes due 15 July 2030 — the principal amount at maturity is €300.0 million, Interest i3 pavable
semi-annually on 15 January and 13 July commencing 15 January 2021,

Virgin Media Inc.. a parent company of the company. and all the intermediate holding companies. guarantec
the senior notes on a senior basis. Virgin Media Investment Holdings Limited. a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the company. guarantees the senior notes on a senior subordinated basis and has no signitficant
assets of its own other than its investments in its subsidiaries. The company has given a full and unconditional
guarantee of all amounts pavable under the terms of the Virgin Media group’s senior secured credit facility and
senior secured notes.

Financial instruments

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Financial assets

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 41.1 200.9
Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised ¢ost 19333 18330
1.974.4 2.033.9

Financial liabilitics
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss (126.2) {43.1)
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (9.679.4) {9.299.9)

(9.805.6) (9.343.0)

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss comprise interest rate swaps and cross currency
interest rate swaps.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise amounts owed by group undertakings

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss comprise interest rate swaps and cross currency
nterest rate swaps and certain other loans.

Financtal liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise senior sccured notes net of issuc costs, interest
pavabie on senior notes. amounts owed to group undertakings. accruals and deferred income.

Derivative financial instruments are designed to mitigate the risks experienced by the company. The company
has obligations in a combination of ULS. dollars and sterling at fixed and variable interest rates. As a result. the
company s exposed to variability i its cash flows and earnings resulting from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates and interest rates.

The company's objective In managing its exposure to interest rate and foreign curreney exchange rates 1s to
deerease the volatility of it carnings and cash ows caused by changes in the underls ing rates. The company
has established policies and procedures o govern these exposures and has entered mto derivative financial
instruments including interest rate swaps, cross-curreney Interest swaps and toreign currency forward rate
contracts. It is the company’s policy not o enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative trading
purpuses. nor to enter inte derivative financial instruments with a level of complearty or with a nisk that is
greater than the exposure 10 be munaged. The amounts below include amounts relanng to short werm as well as
long term creditors.

Financial and operational risk management is undertaken as part of the group's operations as 2 whole. These are
considered in more detail in the consolidated financial statements ot the group.
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10

11

Financial instruments (continued)

The derivative financial instruments held by the company are recorded at fair value on the balance sheet in
accordance with [FRS 9 Financial [nstruments. The tair values of these derivative financial instruments are
valued using internal models based on observable inputs, counterparty valuations. or market tranpsactions in
etther the listed or over-the counter markets. adjusted for non-performance risk.

Cross currency swap contracts
The company helds the following eutstanding swap agreements with another company within the Virgin Media

group:

Final
maturity
date

Feb-22
Feb-22
Oct-24
Jan-26

Interest rate swap contracts

Hedge type

Not designated
Not designated
Not designated
Not designated

Notional amount

due to
counterparty
000
$63.271
S74310

S 457,000
$3.300.600

Netional amount

due from

counterparty

000

£ 462
£52.219
£349.250
£2.31R.963

Interest rate due
to counterparty

5.3%
4.9%
6.0%

3.5%

Interest rate due
from counterparty

3.7%
3.4‘0 o
4.3%
39%

The company holds the following vutstanding swap agreements with another company within the Virgin Media

group:

Final
maturity
date

Jan-27
Nov-27

Share capital

Hedge type

Not designated
Not designated

Notional amount
due to
counterparty

Notional amount
due from
counterparty

300

£400.000
£300,000

Allotted, called up and fully paid.
76,184 (2019: 76.184) ordinary sharcs of £1 cach

Accumulated losses

Share cupital

000

£400.000
£500.000

Interest rate due
to counterparty

4.29%
+.29"%

£ 000

76

Interest rate due
from counterparty

4.80%
4.83%

£ 000

I

The balance classified as share capital represents the nominal value on 1ssue of the company's share capital,

comprising £1 ordinary shares.

Share premium account
Includes any premiums received on issue of share capital. Any transaction costs associated with the 1ssuing of
shares are deducted from share premium.
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12

13

Accumulated losses (continued)

Cuapital contribution
The £5 millien capital contribution was received from Virgin Media Communications Limited as part of a
comprchensive group restructuring in 2006,

Accumulated losses
[ncludes all current and prior period retained profits and losses net of dividends paid.

Auditor’s and directors’ remuneration

Fees paid to KPMG LLP for non-audit services to the parent company itself are not disclosed 1n the individual
accounts of Virgin Meda Finance PLC because group financial statements are prepared which disclose such
tees on a consolidated basis.

The directors reccived no remuncration for qualifying services as directors of this company. All directors’
remuneration 1s paid and disclosed in the group’s financial statements.

Guarantees

The company. along with fellow group undertakings. is party to a senior seeured credit facility with a syndicate
of banks. As at 31 December 2020. this comprised term facilines that amounted to £3.982 miflion (2019 -
£4.015 million) and revolving credit faciiities of £1.000 million (2016 - £1.000 million). Borrowings under the
tacilities are secured against the assets of certain members of the greup including those ot this company.

In addition. a tellow group undertaking has 1ssued senior secured notes which. subject to certain exceptions.
sharc the same guarantees and secursty which have been granted in tavour of the senior secured credit facility.
The amount outstandimg under the senior secured notes at 31 December 2020 amounted to £3.400 million
(2019 - £4.491 million). Borrowings under the notes are secured against the assets of certain members of the
group including those of this company.

Furthermore, a fellow group undertaking has issued senior notes for which the company. along with certain
fellow group undertakings. has guaranteed the notes on a senior subordinated basis. The amount outstanding
under the senior notes as at 31 December 2020 amounted to approximately £1.127 million (2019 - £1.194
million}.

The company has joint and several liabilities under a group VAT registration.
Parent undertaking and controlling party
The company's immediate parent undertaking 1s Virgin Media Communications Limited.

The smallest and largest groups of which the company is a member and in to which the company s accounts
were consolidated at 31 December 2020 are combined financial statements of the "Virgin Media Group™ and the
consolidated accounts of Liberty Global ple. respectively.

The company's ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party at 31 December 2028 was Liberty Global ple.
Copies of the combined finuncial statements of the ~Virgin Media Group™ and the consolidated accounts of

Liberty Global ple are available on Liberty Global™s website at www libertvglobal com or trom the company
secretary. Liberty Global pic. Griffin House. 161 Hammersmith Road. London. United Kingdom. W6 8BS.
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15 Post Balance Sheet Events
Joint venture transaction
On 7 May 2020, Liberty Global entered into a Contribution Agreement with, among others, Telefomea. SA
(Telefonica). Pursuant to this agreement, Liberty Global and Telefonica agreed o form a 30:30 jont venture,
which wilt combine Virgin Media™s operations in the UK with Telefonica’™s mobile business in the UK Lo create

a nationwide integrated communications provider. The formation of the joint venture was completed on | June

2021,
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